University of Wisconsin Milwaukee UWM Digital Commons

Theses and Dissertations

August 2019

Mechanism of Anti-Virulence Compound 187R Inhibiting Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Type III Secretion System

Liwei Fang University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.uwm.edu/etd

Part of the Microbiology Commons

Recommended Citation

Fang, Liwei, "Mechanism of Anti-Virulence Compound 187R Inhibiting Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Type III Secretion System" (2019). *Theses and Dissertations*. 2180. https://dc.uwm.edu/etd/2180

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by UWM Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of UWM Digital Commons. For more information, please contact open-access@uwm.edu.

MECHANISM OF ANTI-VIRULENCE COMPOUND 187R INHIBITING *PSEUDOMONAS AERUGINOSA* TYPE III SECRETION SYSTEM

by

Liwei Fang

A Dissertation Submitted in

Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in Biological Sciences

at

The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

August 2019

ABSTRACT

MECHANISM OF ANTI-VIRULENCE COMPOUND 187R INHIBITING PSEUDOMONAS AERUGINOSA TYPE III SECRETION SYSTEM

by

Liwei Fang

The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, 2019 Under the Supervision of Ching-Hong Yang, Ph.D.

Antibiotics have been widely used for treating bacterial infectious diseases. However, the rapidly emerging of antibiotic resistance has dramatically decreased the efficacy of antibiotics and poses a serious worldwide crisis. In addition, the cell components serving as antibiotics' targets are conserved in many different bacterial species, as a result, antibiotic treatments disrupt the host microbiota and negatively influence the hosts health condition. Therefore, new alternative strategies for fighting infectious diseases without causing antibiotic resistance and disturbing the host microbiota are needed. Type 3 secretion system (T3SS) is a highly conserved virulence factor presents in many different Gram-negative pathogens. It is required for pathogens such as *P. aeruginosa*, surviving and initiating infection in their hosts. Therefore, targeting the T3SS is a promising alternative strategy for developing new antimicrobial therapies without disrupting the hosts' microbial community. Here, we identified a potent T3SS inhibitor, designated 187R, which strongly inhibits the expression of *P. aeruginosa* T3SS. Our data suggests that 187R inhibits T3SS expression through reducing the T3SS master regulator ExsA at the post-translational level. The impact of this anti-virulence compound on the hosts' microbial community was also tested using *Arabidopsis thaliana* phyllosphere as a model. We demonstrates that compared to the traditional antibiotics, our T3SS inhibitor 187R can preserve the microbial community better than antibiotics.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	V
LIST OF TABLES	VI
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	vii
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	2
Pathogenesis of <i>P. aeruginosa</i>	3
T3SS is a primary acute virulence factor	4
Structure of T3SS	4
Effector proteins of P. aeruginosa T3SS	5
THE REGULATORY MECHANISM OF P. AERUGINOSA T3SS	5
T3SS master regulator ExsA	5
Transcriptional regulation of ExsA	6
Post-transcriptional regulation of T3SS	7
Other regulatory components regulate T3SS	8
THE CRISIS OF ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE	9
Antibiotic resistance	9
Human microbiota and antibiotic therapy	. 10
Targeting T3SS	11
CHAPTER 2 : DISCOVERY OF NEW T3SS INHIBITOR AND ITS MECHANISMS OF T3SS INHIBITION	. 14
Abstract	. 15
INTRODUCTION	. 15
MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 19
Bacterial strains, plasmids, primers, and growth condition	. 19
Screening for P. aeruginosa T3SS inhibitors	. 19
Western blotting	. 20
HeLa cell cytotoxicity assay	. 20
Mutant strain and reporter plasmid construction	. 21
qRT-PCR analysis	. 22
Motility assay	. 22
Biofilm assay	. 22
Minimal inhibition concentrations (MICs)	. 23
в-Galactosidase Assays	. 23
Statistical Analysis	. 23
Results	. 23
Screening inhibitors of P. aeruginosa T3SS	. 23
187R impaired T3SS expression and reduced the virulence of P. aeruginosa	. 24
187R did not affect Vfr-cAMP pathway	. 25
187R did not inhibit T3SS through Cbr/Crc pathway	. 26
187R increases the RsmY level in P. aeruginosa	. 27
187R inhibits P. aeruginosa T3SS not through RsmY/Z/A regulatory pathway	. 27
187R inhibits T3SS not through reducing Lon protease activity	. 28
187R inhibits T3SS not through increasing the secondary messenger c-di-GMP level	. 29
187R inhibits T3SS through post-translationally regulating the master regulator ExsA	. 29
187R inhibits T3SS not through nitrate reductase (NirS)	. 31
187R inhibits T3SS not through ppGpp	. 31
Discussion	. 32
UNDERLINES INDICATES RESTRICTION ENZYME SITES	. 51
CHAPTER 3 : ANTI-VIRULENCE COMPOUND PRESERVE THE MICROBIAL COMMUNITY BETTER THAN THE	
TRADITIONAL ANTIBIOTICS	. 54
Abstract	. 55
INTRODUCTION	. 55

Materials and Methods	58
Phyllosphere collection	58
16S rRNA gene illumina sequencing and data analysis	58
Testing the impact of 187R on phyllosphere with culture dependent Biolog EcoPlate	59
Testing the expression of T3SS in Erwinia amylovora and Dickeya dadantii	60
RESULTS	60
Comparison of the impact of 187R and streptomycin on phyllosphere microbe compositions	60
187R preserved the metabolic functions of the phyllosphere better than antibiotics	61
187R does not inhibits the T3SS of two other bacterial pathogens	62
DISCUSSION	63
REFERENCES	72
CURRICULUM VITAE	89

LIST OF FIGURES

Discuss 1.1 The structure and merculaters of T200	10
Figure 1.1 The structure and regulatory of 1355	. 12
Figure 1.2 Major regulatory pathways modulating T3SS in P. aeruginosa.	. 13
Figure 2.1 Effect of 187 on P. aeruginosa exoS promoter activity and growth.	. 35
Figure 2.2 187R impairs T3SS expression and reduces the virulence of P. aeruginosa	. 36
Figure 2.3 HeLa cell cytotoxicity assay.	. 37
Figure 2.4 vfr and exsA promoter activity.	. 38
Figure 2.5 exsC promoter activity and amiE '-'lacZ translational fusion expression	. 39
Figure 2.6 Expression ratio of rsmY and rsmZ mRNA level with the presence of DMSO and	nd
187R	. 40
Figure 2.7 Effect of 187R on rsmY/Z/A regulatory pathway.	. 41
Figure 2.8 Expression ratio of rhlI in 187R/DMSO.	. 42
Figure 2.9 Effect of 187R on c-di-GMP level.	. 43
Figure 2.10 Effect of 187R on master regulator <i>exsA</i>	. 44
Figure 2.11 deaD regulates T3SS expression and low temperature growth.	. 45
Figure 2.12 Translation of exsA with the presence of 187R or DMSO	. 46
Figure 2.13 187R inhibits T3SS in the presence of SNP (NO donor). P. aeruginosa was	
cultured under T3SS inducing condition. SNP was supplemented in the medium at the	
concentration of 3mM. Water was supplemented as control.	. 47
Figure 2.14 Biofilm formation of wild type strain with the presence of 187R and DMSO	. 48
Figure 3.1 Average relative abundance of microbial communities at phylum level	. 66
Figure 3.2 Relative abundance of microbial communities at phylum level	. 67
Figure 3.3 Principal Coordinate Analysis (PcoA) of microbial communities based on	
weighted Unifrac distance.	. 68
Figure 3.4 Heatmap with cluster analysis of carbon metabolism profile	. 69
Figure 3.5 Principal Component Analysis (PCA) of microbial communities carbon	
metabolism profile	. 70
Figure 3.6 httpA promoter activity of E, amylovora (A) and D, dadantii 3937 (B) in the	
presence of DMSO or 187R.	. 71
r	- , 1

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Bacteria strains and plasmids used in this study.	. 49
Table 2.2 Oligonucleotide primers utilized in this study.	. 51
Table 2.3 Ciprofloxacin susceptibility of P. aeruginosa PAO1 grow with DMSO or 187R	. 53

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First of all, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my advisor Dr. Ching-Hong Yang for the tremendous support of my Ph.D. study, for his enthusiasm, patience, critical thinking and immense knowledge. This thesis would not be possible without his guidance.

I would like to thank the members of my dissertation committee: Dr. Sonia Bardy, Dr. Sandra McLellan, Dr. Stefan Schnitzer, Dr. Douglas Steeber and Dr. Gyaneshwar Prasad for generously offering their time, support and valuable suggestions to my research project.

I would also like to thank our present and formal lab members: Dr. Xiaochen Yuan for always answering my questions and providing better solutions for the research project. Dr. Xiaogang Wu for teaching me the experimental skills. Dr. William Hutchins for offering me teaching suggestions. Daqing Jiang, Biswarup Banerjee and Alaleh Ghasemimianael for supporting and assisting my experiments. John Srok and Robert Effinger for offering help in my project.

I am extremely grateful to my family. My wife Shuchen, has been extremely supportive to me throughout my graduate study. My son Lukas who is the joy and pride of my life. My mom and Dad, who motivated me to pursue the career of science.

We thank Dr. Dave Zhao (University of Wisconsin – Milwaukee), Dr. Chao Wang (National Cancer Centre Singapore, Singapore), Dr. Dara W. Frank (Medical College of Wisconsin, USA), Dr. Elisabeth Sonnleitner (University of Vienna, Australia), Dr. Everett Pesci (East Carolina University, USA) and Dr. Matthew Wolfgang (University of North Carolina, USA) for providing materials used in this study. This work was supported by grants from the National Science Foundation, the Research Growth Initiative of the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee and T3bioscience.

Chapter 1 : Introduction

Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Pseudomonas aeruginosa is a facultative anaerobic, Gram negative, rod-shaped bacterium which belongs to the family of gammaproteobacteria. It is able to survive under a wide range of temperatures from 4°C to 42°C. The genome analysis of the PAO1 strain shows that many genes function as substrate uptake or catalysis, which enable the bacteria to use various substances as nutrients (1). The bacterium is also able to survive under anaerobic conditions either by utilizing nitrate or nitrite as alternative external electron acceptors or by fermenting arginine or pyruvate as its energy source (2). All these features allow *P. aeruginosa* to adapt to different types of environments such as soil and water.

P. aeruginosa is an opportunistic pathogen causing acute and chronic infections in immunocompromised patients (3). It is a major cause of nosocomial infections which affects 2 millions patients per year. Cystic fibrosis (CF) patients are the group most vulnerable to *P. aeruginosa*. The pathogen is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in CF patients. In healthy individuals, the infection caused by *P. aeruginosa* tends to occur after skin or eye damage (4). Moreover, the bacteria is able to form robust biofilm on the surface of medical devices which causes biofilm-mediated infections such as ventilator-associated pneumonia and catherter-associated urinary tract infections. The only solution for stopping the biofilm-associated infection is to replace the medical devices (6). Hospital-acquired infections caused by *P. aeruginosa* have become a serious concern as the pathogen is resistant to different types of antibiotics. As a result, the bacteria is hard to eradicate from the patients and causes serious health issues (7).

Pathogenesis of P. aeruginosa

P. aeruginosa has a variety of virulence factors that lead to successful infections. Previous research showed that *P. aeruginosa* isolates from patients with acute infections are generally motile and capable of secreting toxins that cause host cell damage (8). These studies indicate that motility and toxin secretion are important for *P. aeruginosa* acute infections. Flagellar and type IV pili are bacterial cell surface virulence factors that are responsible for twitching, swimming and swarming motilities (9). These virulence factors enable *P. aeruginosa* to search for optimal niches. Type IV pili and flagella also mediate the adhesion to the airway epithelia cells, which is the first step towards colonization and disease initiation (10).

The secretion systems are also crucial for the virulence of *P. aeruginosa*. This pathogen possesses five different classes of secretion systems, all of which enable the pathogen to secrete different types of toxins into the environment or into host cells (11). In P. aeruginosa, two Type 1 secretion systems (T1SS) named T1SS (Apr) and T1SS (Has) have been discovered (12). The first T1SS, T1SS (Apr), secretes alkaline protease protein which interferes with complement activation thereby preventing phagocytosis and the death of *P. aeruginosa* (13). The second T1SS, T1SS (Has) secretes the heme acquisition protein which is crucial for iron acquisition from the environment (14). Type 2 secretion systems (T2SS) are important for the virulence of P. aeruginosa as the system secretes toxins such as elastase and exotoxin A that are believed to cause extensive tissue damage during the infection. It has also been proven that the T2SS is highly similar to type 4 pilus assembly system (T4PS) and can assemble type 2 pseudopilus. The presence of type 2 pseudopilus on P. aeruginosa increases the bacteria's adhesive ability and elevates the virulence of the bacteria (15). Type 3 secretion system is a needle like structure that translocates the effector proteins (toxins) from bacteria cytoplasm into the host cell. The effector proteins cause host cell death and tissue damage (16). The Type 5 secretion system not only secrets toxins such as patatin-like proteins (PLPs) (17), but is also

critical for the cell to cell adhesion and biofilm formation (11). The type 6 secretion system (T6SS) delivers the toxin into other bacteria cells. T6SS of *P. aeruginosa* also helps it compete with the other bacteria and survive in the microbial community (18).

T3SS is a primary acute virulence factor

Type 3 secretion system (T3SS) is considered the primary acute virulence factor for *P. aeruginosa* (19). Previous research showed that in both chronic and acute infection models, the presence of fully functional T3SS is associated with increased mortality rates (20). The increased severity of disease is not only due to tissue damage caused by the T3SS effector protein, but also by the cytotoxicity towards the immune cells such as the macrophages (21). Additionally, *P. aeruginosa* T3SS is involved in killing amoebae. Since predation by phagotrophic protists is the major cause of bacterial populations decreasing in many ecosystems, a fully functional T3SS is required for the bacteria's higher survival rate in the environment (22).

Structure of T3SS

T3SS is a needle-like structure that directly translocates the effector proteins (toxins) from the bacterial cytoplasm into the host cells (23). This multi-protein complex apparatus is composed of a needle-like injectisome and a basal body (Fig. 1.1A). The needle-like structure anchors on the basal body, which extends through the inner membrane, peptidoglycan layer and outer membrane. The basal body and the needle structure is built up under the nonsecreting condition. Once the bacteria make contact with the host cell, PopB, PopD and PcrV are secreted directly by the T3SS. These three proteins forms translocation pores on the host cell plasma membrane which allows effector proteins (toxins) transferred directly into the host cell through the translocation apparatus into the host cytosol (24).

Effector proteins of P. aeruginosa T3SS

In *P. aeruginosa*, four effector proteins named ExoS, ExoT, ExoY and ExoU have been discovered. These four effectors normally are not all present in one single strain; either ExoS or ExoU are absent in different strains (25). Studies of the T3SS effector proteins showed that these four effectors have different enzyme activity. As the most potent T3SS effector, ExoU showed strong phospholipase/lysophospholipase activity and resulted cell lysis through destroying host cell membrane (25). Two other effector proteins ExoS and ExoT share highly similar amino acids sequences. Both are bifunctional proteins with an GTPase-activating N-terminal domain and adenosine diphosphate ribosyltransferase (ADPRT) C-terminal domain. After injection, these two effector proteins work together, manipulating the host cell signaling transduction and causes host cell rounding and cell apoptosis. ExoY is an nucleotidyl cyclase toxin that contains ATP binding domains (26). After injection into the host cell cytoplasm, ExoY is activated by host cell filamentous actin and increases the intracellular levels of several cyclic nucleotides (27). The increased intracellular levels of cyclic nucleotide induces the cell death and causes tissue damage (28).

The regulatory mechanism of P. aeruginosa T3SS

T3SS master regulator ExsA

The expression of *P. aeruginosa* T3SS regulon genes is under the control of the transcriptional activator ExsA (29). ExsA is an AraC family transcriptional regulator which contains a DNA binding domain (30). The master regulator ExsA directly binds to the DNA

consensus sequence (TNAAAANA) in the target gene promoter regions and activates the transcription of T3SS genes (31).

The activity and function of ExsA is post-translationally regulated by the ExsCEDA partner switch regulatory cascade (Fig. 1.1B) (32). Under non-secreting condition, anti-activator ExsD binds to the master regulator ExsA and form a 1:1 complex (33), the binding of ExsD to ExsA deactivates the master regulator ExsA (34). The activity of ExsD is modulated by anti-anti-activator ExsC. ExsC is post translationally regulated by the secret regulator ExsE. Under non-secreting conditions, ExsE binds to ExsC and prevents the anti-activator binding to ExsD. Upon T3SS triggering by a low calcium level or contact to the host cell, ExsE is secreted out and frees the anti-activator ExsC. ExsC then binds to the anti-activator ExsD, thus releasing ExsA and activating the transcription of T3SS (33).

Transcriptional regulation of ExsA

The transcription of *exsA* is a fine-tuned response to various of environmental changes and nutrient sources. The low calcium environment and presence of preferred carbon source can activate the transcription of T3SS master regulator ExsA, thus triggering the expression of T3SS genes (35, 36). The major regulatory pathways illustrated in Fig. 1. 2.

The expression of *exsA* can be activated through two different promoter regions (*exsC* promoter region and *exsA* promoter region) in *exsCEBA* operon. *ExsA* promoter region is controlled by Vfr (Virulence factor regulator), a homolog of *Escherichia coli* CRP (cAMP-activated global transcriptional regulator) transcriptional activator. In a low calcium environment, the adenylate cyclase CyaB (the major adenylate cyclase in *P. aeruginosa* required for the bacterial virulence) responds to the low calcium level and synthesizes cyclic-AMP. Vfr responds directly to the increasing intracellular cyclic-AMP levels. The Vfr protein binds directly to cAMP and undergoes conformational change. The Vfr-cAMP complex then activates *exsA* transcription via binding to *exsA* promoter region (37, 38).

ExsC promoter is ExsA dependent. The master regulator ExsA autoregulates its own expression via *exsC* promoter region (39). Besides ExsCEDA regulatory cascade, the transcription of *exsCEBA* is fine-tuned by the Cbr/Crc regulatory pathway. CbrA/B is a two-component regulatory system. The sensor kinase CbrA responds to non-preferred carbon sources such as mannitol and activates the response regulator CbrB. CbrB then triggers the gene expression of a non-coding regulatory RNA gene *crcZ*. The non-coding regulatory RNA CrcZ, RNA chaperone Hfq, and Catabolite repression control protein (Crc) form a complex and deactivate Crc activity (40). Since Crc positively regulates T3SS via enhancing the transcription of *exsCEBA* operon, deactivating Crc reduces the expression of T3SS. Although the gene expression profile analysis of *crc* mutant showed that Crc may regulate T3SS through various pathways, the underlying regulatory mechanism of Crc to T3SS is largely unknown. (36)

Post-transcriptional regulation of T3SS

RsmA (Repressor of Secondary Metabolism) is a Csr (Carbon storage repressor) family protein (41). In *P. aeruginosa,* RsmA is crucial for regulating different virulence factors such as T3SS, T6SS and motility (19, 42, 43). It is also the key regulator for switching the life style of *P. aeruginosa* from planktonic to biofilm through regulating the secondary messenger molecule cyclic-di-GMP (44).

The post-transcriptional regulator RsmA plays an important role in modulating T3SS. Previous research demonstrated that deletion of *rsmA* leads to a defect in *exsA* at the posttranscriptional level (45). The regulation of T3SS by RsmA is similar to the Cbr/Crc regulatory pathway. GacS/GacA two component system regulates the T3SS via activating the transcription of non-coding regulatory small RNAs RsmY and RsmZ. These two non-coding regulatory small RNAs directly bind to, and deactivate RsmA (46), decreasing the intracellular

levels of the master regulator ExsA and reducing the T3SS gene expression. There are also other regulatory components such as AlgZR two component system and MgtE which regulate T3SS via Gac/Rsm system. AlgZR two component system controls the alginate synthesis. Once this two component system is activated, the response regulator AlgR increase RsmY/Z levels through unknown mechanisms and decreases the expression of T3SS (45). The magnesium transporter MgtE can also inhibit T3SS via activating the GacS/GacA two component system is activated increasing the RsmY/Z level (47). These previous studies indicate the Gac/Rsm system is crucial for regulating *P. aeruginosa* T3SS.

The translation of ExsA mRNA relies on the RNA helicase DeaD which is encoded by the gene PA2840 in PAO1 strain (48). The deletion of *deaD* causes greatly reduced ExsA protein levels and results in defects in the virulence of *P. aeruginosa* (49). *P. aeruginosa* DeaD is an RNA helicase of the DEAD-Box protein family. This group of RNA helicases are present in a wide range of bacteria and archaea. In prokaryotic cells, DEAD RNA helicases either unwind short duplex RNA or stimulate the RNA degradation (50). Bioinformatic analysis and genetic experiments showed that 37nt of *exsA* mRNA 5'-UTR forms an inhibitory structure that prevents translation, however, RNA helicase DeaD relieves the structure and allows the translation of *exsA* mRNA (48).

Other regulatory components regulate T3SS

There are several other regulatory components that regulate T3SS - Quorum sensing and sigma factors RpoN negatively control the T3SS (51). A gene designated as *ptrB* (related to DNA damage) suppresses the T3SS under the stress of DNA damage (52), and the multi-drug efflux pump inhibits the T3SS (53). In addition, some environmental signals such as the oxygen and NO level can also affect the expression of *P. aeruginosa* T3SS (54, 55). However, the exact mechanism is unknown.

The crisis of antibiotic resistance

Antibiotic resistance has become a critical public health crisis worldwide. In some areas of the world, superbugs resistant to all existing antibiotics have been isolated (56). Therefore, alternative anti-infection therapy with new inhibitory mechanisms and lower occurrence of antibiotic resistance are needed. Futhermore, since lots of evidence shows that microbiota is crucial for the health of their host (57, 58), the preservation of microbiota during infectious disease treatments has become a major concern during the development of new anti-infection therapy.

Antibiotic resistance

Antibiotic therapy is the most effective treatment for bacterial and fungal infectious diseases. The current antibiotic therapy targets cellular components which are essential for cell survival (i.e. bacterial cell wall and bacteria ribosome), however, the strong selective pressure leads to the development of antibiotic resistance (59). Currently, antibiotic resistance has been found in nearly all commercially available antibiotics (56). Antibiotic resistance leads to higher medical cost, prolonged hospital stays and increased mortality. In the United States, antibiotic resistance causes more than 23,000 deaths per year (60). A recent study conducted in America demonstrated that from 2002 to 2014, the share of antibiotic resistant bacterial infections rose from 5.2% to 11%. The increased antibiotic resistance costs more than \$2\$ billion annually in the nation (61).

P. aeruginosa is intrinsically resistant to antibiotics. Low cell wall permeability, outer membrane and efflux systems all contribute to *P. aeruginosa*'s innate antibiotic resistance. All of the major classes of antibiotics treating *P. aeruginosa* infection need to cross the bacterial cell wall to reach their target, however, the low cell wall permeability limits the amount of

antibiotics that can cross the cell wall. The outer membrane is another barrier that restricts antibiotic penetration. Moreover, *P. aeruginosa* has at least four different antibiotic efflux pump systems capable of efficiently exporting antibiotics from the cytoplasm. These three resistance mechanisms combine together and keep the intracellular antibiotic concentration at low levels. *P. aeruginosa* can also acquire resistance genes through other organisms or via mutation in chromosomal genes (62).

Human microbiota and antibiotic therapy

Microbiota refers to all the microbes inhabiting many sites in and on multicellular organisms (hosts). The microbiota contains host-specific microbes with various of functions. It is essential for the health of the hosts in several different ways. It provides nutrients to the hosts, represses pathogens and parasites, and stimulates the development of the host's immune system (63, 64). Recent studies done in fish models have proved that the life span of older fish can be extended after inoculation of healthy gut microbiota from young fish (65). Other investigations on the human microbiome suggest that the microbiota is associated with the severity of infectious diseases (66, 67).

The use of antibiotics, especially the broad spectrum antibiotics, affects a large amount of different bacteria species in microbiota and decreases the taxonomic richness, diversity and evenness of host-associated microbiota. As a result, negatively impact the health status of hosts. For example, disrupting the human microbiota can lead to some serious health problems such as gut microbial disorders correlating with *Clostridium difficile* infection (68) and inflammatory bowel disease (69). The recovery of microbiota after treatment with antibiotics can take years which affects long term health of the patients (70).

Targeting T3SS

As the T3SS is the primary acute virulence factor in *P. aeruginosa*, it is not only important for initiating and increasing the severity of the disease via the effector protein, but also critical for the survival of *P. aeruginosa* in the early stages of infection (71). Thus, inhibiting the T3SS is an excellent strategy for developing new anti-infection therapy. Several studies have shown that disarming the pathogen's T3SS reduces bacterial virulence and disease severity (20). Moreover, targeting the virulence factors of the pathogen has the potential advantage to minimize the damage to the host microbiota (72).

In our lab, we screened a compound library and looked for compounds which inhibits *P. aeruginosa* T3SS but not the bacterial growth. We discovered a potent *P. aeruginosa* T3SS inhibitor named 187R that can silence the T3SS. In this research, we determined the molecular mechanism of 187R inhibiting the T3SS. It has been long discussed whether anti-virulence drugs can preserve the microbiota better than antibiotics. In this research, we have also explore the impact of anti-virulence compound 187R on the microbiota of *Arabidopsis thaliana*, one of the hosts of *P. aeruginosa*.



Figure 1.1 The structure and regulatory of T3SS (A) T3SS secretion system of *P. aeruginosa*. (B) ExsCEBA regulatory cascade. ExsA is the master regulator of T3SS. Under non-secretion conditions, ExsE binds to ExsC, ExsD binds to ExsA and deactivate ExsA. Once in contact with the host cell, T3SS secretes ExsE and releases ExsC. ExsC then binds to ExsD and frees ExsA, as a result, activating the T3SS gene expression. (Galle M. et, al., 2012) IM: inner membrane; PG: periplasm; OM: outer membrane.



Figure 1.2 Major regulatory pathways modulating T3SS in *P. aeruginosa*. CbrA/CbrB two component system activates *CrcZ* non-coding small RNA and deactivates Crc which positively regulates T3SS. ExsCEDA regulatory cascade positively regulates T3SS by free ExsA. These two pathways activate the T3SS via activating the transcription of the *exsCEBA* operon through the *exsC* promoter. Vfr-cAMP responds to the increasing intracellular cAMP level and binds to the *exsA* promoter region and activates *exsA* expression. Similar to the Cbr/Crc pathway, two-component system GacS/GacA activates the transcription of two non-coding small RNA and deactivates the posttranscriptional regulator RsmA which positively regulates T3SS. DeaD is the RNA helicase required for stimulating the translation of ExsA mRNA. Dashed line indicates that the regulatory mechanism is not completely understood.

Chapter 2 : Discovery of new T3SS inhibitor and its mechanisms of T3SS inhibition

Abstract

Antibiotics have been widely used for treating bacterial infectious diseases. However, traditional antibiotic therapies target the essential cell components, and this strong selective pressure leads to the antibiotic resistance. To overcome or evade the emerging antibiotic resistance crisis, new alternative strategies for fighting the bacterial infection is needed. Pseudomonas aeruginosa is an opportunistic human pathogen resistant to a variety of commonly used antibiotics. According to World Health Organization (WHO) report, P. *aeruginosa* is one of the three 'top priority antibiotic-resistant pathogens' that pose the greatest threat to human health. Therefore, new antimicrobial agents with new inhibitory mechanisms are urgently needed for treating *P. aeruginosa* infection. Type 3 secretion system (T3SS) is the major virulence factor of *P. aeruginosa* required for the initiation of infection and bacterial survival in the epithelial airway. Therefore, targeting T3SS is a promising alternative strategy for new drug development. In this study, we identified a potent T3SS inhibitor, designated 187R, inhibit T3SS but not the growth of *P. aeruginosa* by screening a compound library. The compound greatly reduced the T3SS expression and attenuated P. aeruginosa T3SS-mediated cytotoxicity towards HeLa cells. Examining the regulatory components and pathways of P. aeruginosa T3SS with the presence of the 187R showed that 187R silences the P. aeruginosa T3SS through post-translationally decreasing protein level T3SS master regulator ExsA. The inhibitory mechanism of 187R on ExsA is independent of the known major T3SS regulatory pathways.

Introduction

Pseudomonas aeruginosa is an opportunistic pathogen that causes acute and chronic infections in immunocompromised patients (3). A primary virulence factor for this pathogen is the type III secretion system (T3SS). T3SS is a needle-like structure that directly translocates

the effector proteins (toxins) from the bacterial cytoplasm into the host cells (23). In *P. aeruginosa*, four effector proteins named ExoS, ExoT, ExoY and ExoU have been discovered (25). These effector proteins manipulate signal transduction in the host cells, resulting in attenuated host immune responses and increased severity of disease (28).

P. aeruginosa T3SS consists of over 40 genes organized within 10 transcriptional units. The expression of all 10 transcriptional units are under the control of master regulator ExsA - an AraC family transcriptional activator (30). Two monomers of ExsA bind to the consensus sequence (TNAAAANA) in the target gene promoter regions to recruit RNA polymerase and activate the transcription of T3SS genes (31). The activity and function of ExsA is posttranslationally regulated by the ExsCEDA regulatory cascade (32). While triggered by the low calcium level or contact to the host cell, ExsE is secreted which frees the anti-anti-activator ExsC. ExsC then binds to the anti-activator ExsD which releases ExsA to turn on the expression of the T3SS (33). ExsA also autoregulates the transcription of itself by binding to the promoter region of exsCEBA operon (39). Besides the ExsCEDA regulatory cascade, exsA is modulated by several other pathways including the Vfr-cAMP pathway, Cbr/Crc pathway, and RsmY/Z/A pathway (35, 55, 73). In a low calcium environment, Vfr (Virulence factor regulator) responds directly to the increasing intracellular cyclic-AMP levels and activates exsA transcription via binding to exsA promoter region (37, 38). Catabolite repression control protein (Crc) is another positive regulator that regulates *exsA* through enhancing *exsCEBA* expression (36). The activity of Crc is controlled by non-coding regulatory small RNA CrcZ (74). The expression of crcZ is triggered by the CbrA/B two-component system which senses and responds to non-preferred carbon sources such as mannitol. The non-preferred carbon sources stimulate the two component system and activates the transcription of crcZ. CrcZ RNA binds to Crc protein and deactivates the protein with the assistance of RNA chaperone Hfq (75, 76).

The post-transcriptional regulator RsmA also plays an important role in modulating the T3SS. Similar to the Cbr/Crc regulatory pathway, the GacS/GacA two component system regulates the T3SS via activating the transcription of non-coding small RNAs RsmY and RsmZ. These two small RNAs deactivate RsmA which is the posttranscriptional activator for T3SS (46). Although the regulatory mechanism is not well understood, previous research demonstrated that deletion of *rsmA* showed a defect in ExsA at the posttranscriptional level (45). Another important regulatory component stimulates the translation of *exsA* independent of RsmA is RNA helicase DeaD. DeaD unwinds 5' UTR of ExsA mRNA and allows the imitation of translation. (48). The deletion of *deaD* greatly reduced ExsA protein levels and resulted in defect in the virulence of *P. aeruginosa* (49).

Since Alexander Fleming discovered penicillin in 1928, antibiotic therapy has been widely used for treating bacterial infections. However, the current antibiotic therapy targets the cellular components which are essential for cell survival (i.e. bacterial cell wall and bacteria ribosome). The strong selective pressure leads to the development of antibiotic resistance (59). Currently, antibiotic resistance has been found in nearly all commercially available antibiotics (56). *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* is resistant to a variety of commonly used antibiotics such as carbapenem. According to World Health Organization (WHO) report, *P. aeruginosa* is one of the three 'top priority antibiotic-resistant pathogens' that pose the greatest threat to human health (77). New antimicrobial agents with new inhibitory mechanisms are urgently needed for treating *P. aeruginosa* infection. In addition, antibiotic therapy can alter human microbiota and affects host health status in the long term. In some cases, disturbing the human microbiota is associated with several serious diseases; for example, gut microbial disorder correlates with *Clostridium difficile* infection (68) and inflammatory bowel disease (69).

Therefore, alternative anti-infection therapies, which can preserve the microbiota and lower the occurrence of antibiotic resistance, are needed. T3SS is a major virulence factor in *P*.

aeruginosa. It is not only critical for initiating the infection but also responsible for killing the hosts' immune cells. Therefore, inhibiting T3SS decreases the bacterial survival in hosts and reduces the severity of the diseases (71). Moreover, targeting the virulence factors of the pathogen has the potential advantage of minimizing the damage to the host microbiota (72).

Various T3SS inhibitors, including several small-molecule inhibitors and a monoclonal antibody, have been developed during the last decade. These T3SS inhibitors target for different T3SS components, such as the extracellular structural components, effector proteins and intracellular regulatory proteins (78). One group of extracellular structural components used as targets of the inhibitors is the traslocon proteins. Previous research showed that the Phenoxyacetamide inhibitors and monoclonal antibody KB001-A target the needle structural protein PscF and needle tip protein PcrV, respectively (21, 79). The interaction of the compound and needle structural protein block the translocation of the effector proteins, greatly reducing the virulence of *P. aeruginosa*. The small molecule Pseudolipasin is able to inhibit the ExoU PLA₂ activity and ExoS ADP-ribosyltransferase activity respectively (80, 81). In vitro experiments have proved that these two anti-effector molecules neutralize the toxicity of T3SS effector and protect the CHO cells. However, these two strategies all have their limitations since 1) inserting the needle of T3SS itself can cause damage to the host cells, and 2) different P. aeruginosa strains carry different sets of effector proteins (23). An attractive target for developing T3SS inhibitors is the master regulator ExsA. Since all the P. aeruginosa T3SS genes are ExsA-dependent, inhibiting the synthesis or activity of ExsA would lead to the decrease or complete elimination of all T3SS gene expression.

In the present work, we screened a compound library and search for compounds inhibit *P. aeruginosa* T3SS but not the bacterial growth. We discovered a potent *P. aeruginosa* T3SS inhibitor named 187R. The compound strongly inhibits the T3SS while not affecting the growth of *P. aeruginosa*. In vitro HeLa cell infection assay suggested 187R reduced T3SS-mediated

cytotoxicity in the assay. Further research demonstrated that 187R dramatically decreased the protein level of ExsA through post-translational mechanism.

Materials and Methods

Bacterial strains, plasmids, primers, and growth condition.

Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study are listed in Table 2.1. *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa* were routinely cultured in LB medium at 37°C unless otherwise stated. LB supplemented with 200 mM NaCl and 10 mM nitrilotriacetic acid (NTA) were used as the T3SS inducing medium. Antibiotics were used at the following concentrations: 100 μ g/mL of carbenicillin (Cb), 10 μ g/mL of gentamicin (Gm), 10 μ g/mL of tetracycline (Tc) for *E. coli* and 100 μ g/mL of Cb, 50 μ g/mL of Km, 50 μ g/mL of Gm and 30 μ g/mL of Tc for *P. aeruginosa*. Primers used for PCR are listed in Table 2.2.

Screening for P. aeruginosa T3SS inhibitors

The *P. aeruginosa* strain PAO1 harboring *exoS-gfp* (Green fluorescent protein) transcriptional fusion reporter plasmid was used for screening the T3SS inhibitors. Overnight culture of PAO1 harboring the reporter plasmid at a 1:1000 was inoculated into T3SS inducing medium with 250 μ M of the screening compound. *P. aeruginosa* treated with DMSO (solvent for screening compounds) was used as negative control. Bacteria were cultured at 37°C for seven hours before harvesting. The harvested bacterial cells were diluted in PBS and the GFP intensity was measured using fluorescence-activated cell sorter (FACS) flow cytometry (BD Biosciences, CA).

Western blotting

 5μ L of PAO1 overnight culture was inoculated into 5 mL T3SS inducing medium with 250 μ M of the screening compound. DMSO was used as control. Bacterial cell pellets and supernatant were separated by centrifugation at seven hours post-inoculation. For measuring the ExoS and ExsA protein in the bacteria cell, the cell pellets were resuspended in 50 μ L of PBS. 50 μ L of 2X SDS-page buffer was added into each sample and followed by boiling for 10 minutes. For measuring the secreted ExoS protein level in the supernatant, the supernatant collected from the previous step was centrifuged again to remove any remaining cells. Trichloroacetic acid was added into the supernatant to reach the concentration of 10% and followed by centrifugation at 13,500 rpm for 30 min to collect the secreted protein. The protein pellets were resuspended in 2x SDS-page buffer. The protein sample from equal amount of cells were loaded on SDS page gel. The proteins were transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane and probed with a rabbit polyclonal antibody against ExsA or a chicken polyclonal antibody against ExoS. A mouse antibody against RNA polymerase was used as control for the total protein quantity.

HeLa cell cytotoxicity assay

T3SS-mediated cytotoxicity was determined by a cell lifting assay. HeLa cells (1×10^5) were seeded in each well of a 12 well plate and cultured for 18 hours at 37°C with 5% CO² in DMEM medium (Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, penicillin (100 Units/mL), and streptomycin (100 µg/mL). Before the infection assay, the HeLa cell culture medium was removed from the well and the cells were washed twice with PBS (Phosphate Buffered Saline). HeLa cell culture medium without antibiotic supplemented with 250 µM of compound or DMSO, was added into each well. Bacteria were cultured overnight in LB medium at 37 °C. After collecting the overnight culture by centrifugation. The bacteria cell pellet was washed with PBS and resuspended in DMEM. HeLa cells were then

infected with the bacteria at MOI (Multiplicity of infection) of 30. Three and half hours post infection, the medium were removed and the HeLa cells were stained by crystal violet after rinsing twice with PBS. The plate was washed twice with PBS and then 200 μ L of 95% ethanol was added to the wells for dissolving the crystal violet. The OD490 of the ethanol solution with dissolved crystal violet was measured to determine the cells that were attached to the surface.

Mutant strain and reporter plasmid construction

To construct the *deaD* deletion mutant, a PCR fragment consisting of the flanking region of ~900 bp up and down stream of *deaD* were cloned into the HindIII and BamHI restriction site of pEX18GM. The plasmid was transferred to *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 strain by conjugal mating as previously described (82).

The GFP reporter plasmid was constructed by cloning promoter regions of *exsC*, *exsA*, *exoY* and *exoT* into pProbe-AT, a broad host range vector with a promoterless GFP (green fluorescent protein) (83), respectively. The promoter activity was monitored by measuring GFP intensity using flow cytometry as described earlier.

For constructing the *tssA1'-'lacZ*, *exsA'-'lacZ* and *exsCEBA'-'lacZ* translational fusion reporter plasmid, 5'UTR and first 25 codons of *tssA1* gene, 5'UTR and first 52 codons of *exsA*, region between *exsC* transcriptional start site to 52 codons of *exsA* were amplified by PCR, respectively, and cloned into the translational *lacZ* fusion vector PSW205 (84). The forward oligonucleotide primers for constructing these two translational fusion reporters were engineered to include an EcoRI restriction site and a *lacUV5* promoter. Since there is no *lacI* gene in *P. aeruginosa*, IPTG inducing is not necessary. The expression of the translational fusion for the translational fusion reporters were measured by β-Galactosidase activity as previously described (51).

qRT-PCR analysis

The mRNA levels of *exsA* were measured by qRT-PCR. Bacterial cells cultured in T3SS inducing medium for 7 h were harvested. RNeasy mini kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) was used to isolate the total RNA. cDNA was synthesized using iScript cDNA synthesis kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA). The cDNA level of *exsA* gene was quantified by qRT-PCR using SYBR green master mix (Applied Biosystems, CA). Data were analyzed using a Relative Expression Software Tool (85). The expression level of *rpsL* was used as an endogenous control for data analysis (36).

Motility assay

Swarming. Swarming plates were prepared as previous described (86). 187R (250 μ M) or DMSO were adding into the medium. *P. aeruginosa* from overnight LB agar was inoculated on the plate. After overnight incubation at 30°C. The diameters were measured.

Twitching. LB broth solidified with 1% (wt/vol) agar was used for twitching motility. *P. aeruginosa* was stab inoculated to the bottom of the petri-dish. 187R (250 μ M) or DMSO was added into the medium. After inoculation for 16 hours at 37°C, the medium was removed from the plate. The zone of motility at the agar/Petri dish interface was measured after staining with crystal violet.

Biofilm assay

Quantification of biofilm was performed in 96 well microtiter plates. Bacterial cells from overnight cultures were inoculated at 1:100 dilution into T3SS inducing medium or ABTGC medium (87). The plate was incubated overnight at 37°C without shaking. Biofilms were stained with 0.1% crystal violet and were washed with water to remove unbound dye, and the

crystal violet was dissolved in 95% ethanol and the absorbance at 570 nm was measured. For each treatment, six independent experimental repeats were performed.

Minimal inhibition concentrations (MICs)

Determination of the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) for antibiotics was performed in LB broth as previously described (88). The lowest antibiotic concentration that showed no growth was considered as the MIC.

β-Galactosidase Assays

 β -Galactosidase assays were carried out in triplicate. The activity was determined as described (89). The samples were collected by centrifuge. The cell pellets were rinsed and resuspended in PBS to washed off the compound. The expression levels of the reporter plasmids were determined by normalization of β -Galactosidase activity (OD₄₂₀) to the bacterial growth (OD₆₀₀).

Statistical Analysis

Two-tailed student's t-test was used to assess the inhibition of 187R on the T3SS gene expression. One way analysis of variance (ANOVA) combined with Tukey-HSD were applied for multiple comparisons. The test was performed by statistic software R (90).

Results

Screening inhibitors of P. aeruginosa T3SS

To discover the compound inhibit T3SS but not the growth of *P*. aeruginosa, we screened a small molecule compound library. The compound library was consisted by salicylic acid, its

precursors and their analogues. A total of 264 small molecule compounds were screened for identifying the inhibitors of *P. aeruginosa* T3SS.

For monitoring the expression of *exoS* under the T3SS inducing condition (200 mM NaCl and 10 mM nitrilotriacetic acid), a GFP reporter carrying the *exoS* promoter region (59) was used in the screening process. Each compound was dissolved in DMSO and was added into the medium at a concentration of 250 μ M. Bacteria cells were harvested seven hours post inoculation and the Mean Fluorescence Intensity (MFI) was measured by flow cytometry. The MFI of DMSO (vehicle dissolve the compound) treated reporter strain was used as control. Among all the compounds screened, compound 187 strongly inhibited the expression of *exoS* (90% inhibitory at concentration of 250 μ M) in contrast to the DMSO treatment. Further analysis of two different 187 conformational isomers showed that only 187R inhibits the *exoS* while 187S does not (Fig. 2.1A). Also, no inhibition of bacterial growth was observed upon the addition of 250 μ M of compound 187R (Fig. 2.1B). The dose-dependent effectiveness of 187R on *P. aeruginosa exoS* promoter activity was examined in a T3SS inducing medium supplemented with different concentrations of 187R. As shown in Fig. 2.1C, the minimal concentration of 187R required to reach its maximum inhibition of the *exoS* promoter activity is 35 μ M.

187R impaired T3SS expression and reduced the virulence of *P. aeruginosa*

To further examine the effect of 187R on *P. aeruginosa* T3SS, the expression levels of two effector encoding genes, *exoY* and *exoT*, were measured. The results indicated that the promoter activities of both genes were decreased when exposed to 187R (Fig.2.2A and B). In addition, a Western blot was performed to determine the ExoS protein (48.3kDa) level in the cell pellet and the supernatant. An anti-ExoS polyclonal antibody was used in the Western blot. Similar to previous studies the anti-ExoS polyclonal antibody also cross-reacted to the ExoT (59, 91)

showing another band at around 48kDa. As shown in Fig. 2.2C, consistent with the *exoS* and *exoT* promoter activity, ExoS and ExoT protein levels were reduced in the presence of 187R in both bacteria culture supernatant and cell pellets.

Previous reports showed that P. aeruginosa T3SS translocates effector proteins into the cytoplasm of host cells and causes cell rounding, lifting, and death (92, 93). The infected cells detach from the monolayer culture, which allows us to evaluate the efficacy of T3SS inhibitors by a HeLa cell lifting assay (93). Briefly, the HeLa cells were infected with *P. aeruginosa* at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 30 in the presence of 187R. We added DMSO as a control. After incubation for three and half hours, the cell culture was rinsed twice with PBS and the living cells attached to the surface were stained with crystal violet. After removing the unbound crystal violet, 200 µL of ethanol was added. The dissolved crystal violet was measured by absorbance at a wavelength of 490 nm. In this assay, we used PAK strain since 1) it has higher and earlier T3SS expression than the PAO1 strain (94); 2) its T3SS repressed by 187R. A T3SS defect strain, pscJ mutant strain, was used as a control. pscJ is a gene which encodes a lipoprotein component of the T3SS basal substructure of the needle complex. It is required for the assembly of a functional T3SS (26). Consistent with the previous research (71), deletion of pscJ greatly decreased virulence compared to wild type PAK. In addition, adding 187R significantly reduced the cytotoxicity of PAK wild-type while showing no T3SS-mediated cytotoxicity to HeLa cells. The cell morphology after P. aeruginosa inoculation also confirmed that T3SS-mediated cell rounding greatly reduced when 187R was supplemented (Fig. 2.3B-D). In conclusion, these results demonstrated 187R is a potent *P. aeruginosa* T3SS inhibitor.

187R did not affect Vfr-cAMP pathway

Transcriptional regulator protein Vfr (<u>v</u>irulence <u>factor regulator</u>) activates *P. aeruginosa* T3SS through cyclic AMP dependent pathway. Previous research demonstrated that Vfr-cAMP complex autoregulates *vfr* gene expression by directly binding to its own promoter region (35). To test if 187R inhibits T3SS through Vfr-cAMP pathway, *vfr* promoter activity was measured in the present of 187R. *vfr* mutant was used as a control in the experiment. In agreement with the previous research, mutation of *vfr* greatly reduced *vfr* promoter activity, indicating that Vfr is involved in autoregulation (Fig. 2.4A). However, in the wild-type strain, 187R did not alter the *vfr* promoter activity compared to the DMSO control (Fig. 2.4A). This result suggested that 187R does not inhibit *P. aeruginosa* T3SS through Vfr-cAMP pathway. To further confirm this conclusion, we tested the *exsA* promoter activity in the presence of 187R. Previous research states that Vfr-cAMP complex directly binds to T3SS master regulator *exsA* promoter region and activates the transcription of *exsA*. The low *exsA* promoter activity in *vfr* mutant was observed as previously described (38), which proved that Vfr positivly regulates *exsA* promoter activity when treated with 187R (Fig. 2.4B). These results suggested that 187R did not affect the Vfr-cAMP pathway.

187R did not inhibit T3SS through Cbr/Crc pathway

P. aeruginosa regulates T3SS through the Cbr/Crc pathway in which Crc (catabolite repression control protein) serves as a positive regulator of T3SS and modulates the transcription of *exsCEBA* (36). Therefore, if 187R inhibits T3SS through the Cbr/Crc pathway, *exsC* promoter activity should reduce. Consistent with the previous results, in a *crc* mutant strain, *exsC* promoter activity greatly reduced compared to the wild type (Fig 2.5A). However, we found that the *exsC* promoter activity was not altered when treated with 187R (Fig. 2.5B). Crc represses the translation of *amiE*, which encodes an aliphatic amidase (74). Using the *amiE'-'lacZ* translational fusion reporter, we found that *amiE'-'lacZ* expression did not show significant differences between DMSO and 187R treated wild type strains (Fig. 2.5C). Similar

to previous research, there was a significant increase of *amiE'-'lacZ* expression in the *crc* mutant strain (74). In conclusion, these results confirmed that 187R did not inhibit T3SS via the Cbr/Crc pathway.

187R increases the RsmY level in P. aeruginosa

RsmY and RsmZ small RNAs play crucial roles mediating various cellular processes including T3SS in *P. aeruginosa* (45). We first tested the mRNA levels of two regulatory small RNAs RsmY and RsmZ via qRT-PCR. As shown in Fig. 2.6, *rsmY* RNA level increased dramatically (four-fold increase in 187R-treated bacteria) while *rsmZ* RNA level has a moderate decreased in the presence of 187R. This result suggested that *rsmY* could be the potential target causing the inhibition of T3SS.

187R inhibits P. aeruginosa T3SS not through RsmY/Z/A regulatory pathway

Since *rsmY* small RNA inhibits T3SS by adjusting the activity of RsmA protein, we tested the activity of RsmA. Previous studies showed that increased RsmA activity elevates T3SS and represses T6SS at the post-transcription level. As a repressor for T6SS, RsmA binds to the GGA motif of *P. aeruginosa* T6SS mRNAs to repress the translation of T6SS genes. The *tssA1* is a gene that encodes a T6SS structural protein. It has a GGA motif and its translation is repressed by RsmA (95, 96). To evaluate the RsmA activity, a *tssA1'-'lacZ* translational fusion reporter was constructed by cloning the 5' UTR and the first 25 codons of *tssA1* into pSW205. The *tssA1'-'lacZ* translational fusion reporter is driven by *lacUV5* promoter. If 187R inhibits T3SS via RsmY/Z/A regulatory pathway, an increasing *tssA1'-'lacZ* expression level will be observed in the presence of 187R. However, as shown in figure 2.7A, the expression level of *tssA1'-'lacZ* decreased moderately in the presence of 187R, suggesting elevated RsmA activity. This data demonstrated that the 187R did not inhibit T3SS through RsmY/Z/A regulatory pathway. To further confirm the increased *rsmY* small RNA in the presence of 187R did not

inhibit the T3SS expression, we checked the T3SS expression under a *rsmYrsmZ* double mutant background within the presence of 187R. The result showed that 187R still strongly inhibits the *exoS* promoter activity (Fig. 2.7B), which confirmed that 187R did not inhibit T3SS through RsmY/Z/A regulatory pathway.

187R inhibits T3SS not through reducing Lon protease activity

Since the increasing RsmY did not affect T3SS, we examined the other regulatory components that can increase RsmY RNA levels and are capable of inhibiting T3SS independent of RsmA. One possible cellular component that may cause the increase of rsmYbut not rsmZ RNA and inhibits the T3SS independent of RsmY/Z/A regulatory pathway is the Lon protease (97). Lon protease is an important enzyme involved in the protein quality control in microorganisms and required for full virulence of P. aeruginosa (98). Previous research suggested that Lon protease not only positively regulates T3SS through unknown mechanisms, but also negatively regulates the *rsmY* mRNA level through adjusting the protein level of RNA chaperon Hfq (99). If the compound 187R suppressed the T3SS through inhibiting Lon protease, the RNA chaperon Hfq would increase and elevate the *rsmY* but not *rsmZ* RNA level (100). Since Lon protease represses the expression level of quorum sensing autoinducer synthetase *rhll* (101), we first performed qRT-PCR to find out if the mRNA level of *rhll* is increased in the presence of 187R. The qRT-PCR results showed that *rhl1* mRNA levels decreased while adding 187R in the medium (Fig. 2.8). Lon protease is also involved in fluoroquinolone class antibiotic resistance. Mutation of *lon* resulted a four times increasing of ciprofloxacin susceptibility compared to the wild type (102). If 187R inhibits Lon protease, we would observe the reduction of ciprofloxacin MIC while adding 187R. However, the MIC of ciprofloxacin did not change after adding 187R (Table 2.3). These results demonstrate that 187R does not inhibit T3SS through Lon protease.
187R inhibits T3SS not through increasing the secondary messenger c-di-GMP level

Besides the Lon protease, another potential candidate that may cause the increasing *rsmY* (but not *rsmZ*) mRNA level is the diguanylate cyclase (DGC) HsbD. HsbD positively regulates *rsmY* transcription through increasing the intracellular c-di-GMP level (103). C-di-GMP is an important intracellular secondary messenger that regulates multiple virulence factors. T3SS is one of the virulence factors modulated by c-di-GMP. Although the mechanisms how c-di-GMP regulates T3SS is not completely understood, c-di-GMP negatively regulates T3SS. To measure the c-di-GMP level in the presence of 187R, we examined the *cdrA* promoter activity, which is positively regulated by the intracellular c-di-GMP level (104). Our result showed that *cdrA* promoter activity did not increase in the presence of 187R (Fig. 2.9A). In *P. aeruginosa*, increasing intracellular c-di-GMP represses swarming motility but promotes twitching motility (103). In order to further confirm that intracellular c-di-GMP level was not affected by 187R, the twitching and swarming motility of *P. aeruginosa* was examined in the presence of 187R. Our results showed that twitching motility (Fig. 2.9B-C) did not change while adding 187R in the medium. These results suggested that 187R did not inhibit the T3SS through increasing intracellular c-di-GMP level.

187R inhibits T3SS through post-translationally regulating the master regulator ExsA

For elucidating the impact of 187R on master regulator *exsA*, Western blots of ExsA was performed using anti-ExsA antibody. Western blot of ExsA protein showed that the ExsA protein level decreased dramatically in the presence of 187R (Fig. 2.10A). Since our results also indicated that *exsA* and *exsC* promoter activity was not altered by 187R (Fig. 2.4B & Fig. 2.5B), we investigated the inhibitory mechanisms of 187R on *exsA* at post-transcriptional level. We measured the *exsA* mRNA in the presence of 187R or DMSO using qRT-PCR. As shown

in Fig. 2.10B, the ratio of mRNA level in the presence of 187R and DMSO is close to one, revealing the similar *exsA* mRNA level in the presence of 187R or DMSO.

An alternative hypothesis to account for 187R decreasing ExsA protein level could be that 187R hampered the translation of *exsA* mRNA. To test this hypothesis, we first tested if 187R affects the activity of RNA helicase DeaD. DeaD is the major RNA helicase that stimulates *exsA* translation independent of RsmA (48). To examine whether 187R inhibits the T3SS via DeaD, we first determined the T3SS expression level under the *deaD* mutant background. The *exoS-gfp* transcriptional fusion reporter was introduced into the *deaD* mutant strain. Consistent with previous research, ExsA-dependent *exoS* gene expression was extremely low in the *deaD* mutant, indicating the T3SS expression between 187R and DMSO treatments under *deaD* mutant background.

An alternative strategy for testing whether DeaD is affected by 187R is observing the growth of bacteria at low temperature. *P. aeruginosa deaD* is a homologue of *E.coli deaD* which is essential for low temperature growth (50). In order to confirm *deaD* plays the similar role in *P. aeruginosa*, we measured the growth of *P. aeruginosa deaD* mutant strain under low temperature conditions (16°C) in both T3SS inducing medium and non-inducing (LB) medium. Similar to the *E.coli deaD* mutant, *P. aeruginosa deaD* mutant showed a growth defect at 16°C but not 37°C (Fig. 2.11B-D). Therefore, if 187R inhibits *exsA* translation by reducing DeaD activity, a reduced growth at 16°C would be observed when 187R was added into the growth medium. However, adding 187R did not affect the growth of the wild type strains at 16°C in both T3SS inducing conditions (Fig. 2.11C-D). As a result, we conclude that 187R does not inhibit T3SS through affecting the RNA helicase DeaD.

The transcription of *exsA* can be activated by ExsA through the *exsC* promoter region and Vfr-cAMP through the *exsA* promoter region, therefore, generating *exsCEBA* polycistronic

mRNA and *exsA* mRNA. Since the regulatory mechanisms of these two different mRNAs have not been completely understood, two different translational fusion reporters, *exsCEBA* '- '*lacZ* and *exsA* '- '*lacZ*, were constructed. As show in the Fig. 2.12A, *exsCEBA* '- '*lacZ* translational fusion reporter was constructed by cloning the region between the transcriptional start site of *exsC* to 52 codons of *exsA* into pSW205. *exsA* '- '*lacZ* translational fusion reporter was constructed by cloning the 5' UTR of *exsA* and 52 condons of *exsA* into pSW205 (Fig. 2.12A). These two *exsA* '- '*lacZ* and *exsCEBA* '- '*lacZ* translational fusion were driven by foreign *lacUV5* promoter. In the presence of 187R, the expression of *exsA* '- '*lacZ* and *exsCEBA* '- '*lacZ* translational fusion reporter were not reduced (Fig. 2.12B-C). In conclusion, the results above suggested that compound 187R suppresses ExsA protein but it is not through decreasing the transcription and translation of *exsA*.

187R inhibits T3SS not through nitrate reductase (NirS)

We also studied whether 187R inhibits the T3SS via nitrate reductase NirS which is required for the maximal virulence of T3SS (54). Previous study showed supplementation with sodium nitroprusside (SNP) as NO donor restored T3SS in a *NirS* mutant (54). Therefore, if the compound inhibits T3SS via *NirS*, supplementation with SNP as an NO donor would restore the T3SS with the presence of 187R. As shown in Fig. 2.13, supplementation with SNP did not restore the T3SS expression in the presence of 187R. In addition, the *NirS* mutant only showed decreased T3SS-mediated cytotoxicity when the MOI = 0.1. In our HeLa cell lifting assay, we used much higher MOI (MOI=30) for our assay and 187R showed significant inhibition of T3SS-mediated cytotoxicity. Therefore, *NirS* is not the target of 187R.

187R inhibits T3SS not through ppGpp

5'-diphosphate-3'-diphosphate (ppGpp) is another bacteria secondary messenger that regulates the virulence of bacteria. Although the regulatory mechanisms is not clear, this

secondary messenger is also involved in motility, biofilm formation and T3SS. In a ppGpp deficient strains, the swarm motility and biofilm formation are greatly reduced. Since we did not observe a reduced swarming motility in the presence of 187R, the compound probably did not affect the T3SS by reducing ppGpp level. Our biofilm formation assay (Fig. 2.14A-B) also found that the biofilm formation was not altered by 187R in both T3SS-inducing medium and ABTGC medium. These results suggested that 187R did not inhibit the T3SS by decreasing ppGpp.

Discussion

P. aeruginosa is resistant to many commonly used antibiotics. Since the T3SS is essential for initiating the acute infection and responsible for bacterial survival in epithelial airway (71), it has been considered as a potential alternative target for the development of new antimicrobial therapies. In this study, we screened a compound library to look for the anti-virulence compounds that inhibit *P. aeruginosa* T3SS but do not inhibit the growth of the bacteria. We found a potent T3SS inhibitor, 187R, that can suppress the *P. aeruginosa* T3SS. Our data suggested that the compound reduces the T3SS-mediated cytotoxicity towards HeLa cells. Further research proved that adding the compound did not inhibit T3SS through the major regulatory pathways including Cbr/crc, Vfr/cAMP and RsmY/Z/A regulatory pathway. We also confirmed that 187R did not inhibit T3SS through Lon protease, diguanylate cyclase (DGC) HsbD, or nitrate reductase NirS. The impact of the compound 187R on the master regulator ExsA was also assessed. Our data demonstrated that 187R dramatically reduced protein level of ExsA without inhibiting *exsA* gene expression and translation. These results indicate that there may be an unknown regulatory component that post-translationally regulates ExsA protein levels independent of the major regulatory pathways.

In this study, supplementation of 187R greatly reduced the protein level of ExsA and dramatically decreased the expression of ExsA-dependent genes such as *exoS* and *exoY*. However, the reduced ExsA protein level did not decrease the *exsC* promoter activity and *exsA* mRNA level. The phenotype was probably caused by the high binding affinity of ExsA to *exsC* promoter region (29). Therefore, the promoter activity of *exsC* was not affected by the decreased ExsA protein level. In addition, we found that although adding 187R elevates the RsmY RNA level, the increased RsmY RNA level did not sequester the RsmA and resulted defected *exsCEBA'-'lacZ* expression. A plausible explanation for this observation is that 187R may increase the protein level of the RNA chaperone Hfq. While Hfq and RsmA shared overlapping binding sites on *rsmY* small RNA, the binding affinity of Hfq to *rsmY* small RNA is higher than RsmA to *rsmY* small RNA. As a result, although the binding of Hfq to RsmY increased the RNA stability, it prevents RsmA from binding to *rsmY* small RNA (105). A further study on the effect of 187R on Hfq is needed to confirm the above hypothesis.

P. aeruginosa uses various planktonic virulence factors to initiate the infection in tissues (106). When the bacterium is under stress or unfavorable conditions, it turns off the planktonic virulence factors and switches the lifestyle from planktonic to biofilm. Eventually, the bacterium establishes the biofilm-based chronic infection. Clinically, treating the biofilm-associated infections is a tremendous challenge due to its higher tolerance to antibiotics and lower susceptibility to the host immune response (107). While *P. aeruginosa* shifts from planktonic lifestyle to biofilm, some regulatory components switch acute virulence factors and biofilm formation. For example, RsmA, the positive T3SS posttranscriptional regulator, negatively regulates biofilm formation through various regulatory pathways including controling intracellular c-di-GMP level (44). Previous research conducted in a murine lung infection model showed that although disrupting *rsmA* reduced the acute virulence factors, the mutant showed increased biofilm formation and increased pulmonary inflammation in a

chronic infection model (44, 108). Therefore, while screening the anti-virulence compounds like T3SS inhibitors, it is important to avoid the compounds impacting the cellular components that inversely control acute virulence factors and biofilm formation such as RsmA. Our data suggests that 187R did not inhibit T3SS via reducing RsmA activity or increasing c-di-GMP level. Further experiments showed that 187R did not promote the biofilm formation compared to the DMSO control (Fig. 2.14). Our results suggest that while 187R strongly inhibits the T3SS of *P. aeruginosa,* the compound does not increase biofilm formation.

Taken together, our research suggested that the compound 187R inhibits *P. aeruginosa* T3SS through reducing ExsA protein level at post-translational level. After examining the current known mechanism, we found that 187R did not inhibit T3SS through major known regulatory pathways or components. These results indicate that there is an unknown T3SS regulatory pathway way that regulates ExsA protein at the post-translational level. Moreover, 187R has not only shown inhibition to T3SS, further research suggested that 187R does not promote the other virulence factors such as motility, c-di-GMP and biofilm formation. Overall, 187R is a potential compound for further drug development.



Figure 2.1 Effect of 187 on *P. aeruginosa exoS* promoter activity and growth. *P. aeruginosa* was cultured in T3SS inducing media supplemented with 250μ M of compound 187R or DMSO. (A) *exoS* promoter activities supplemented with 187R and DMSO respectively. (B) Growth of *P. aeruginosa* with 250 μ M of 187R compared with DMSO. (C) Evaluation of the dose-dependent effect of 187R on *exoS* expression.



Figure 2.2 187R impairs T3SS expression and reduces the virulence of *P. aeruginosa*. (A) *exoY* promoter activity with 187R or DMSO. (B) *exoT* promoter activity with 187R or DMSO. (C) Western blot of the protein levels of ExoS and ExoT with 187R and DMSO respectively. Statistical significance was determined using an two-tailed student's t-test (***, P<0.001).



Figure 2.3 HeLa cell cytotoxicity assay. A) Cell lifting assay. Strain names: PAK: wild type PAK, *pscJ*.: PAK *ApscJ*, No bacteria: No bacteria but only DMSO or 187R added into the HeLa cell culture. Statistical significance was determined using an ANOVA test with Tukey-HSD analysis. Significant differences were found between DMSO treated PAK infection group and all other groups (**, P<0.01). No significant differences found among all other groups. B) HeLa cell morphology post infection with the present of DMSO (B), 187R (C), and D) *pscJ* mutant



Figure 2.4 *vfr* and *exsA* promoter activity. (A) *exsA* promoter activity in wild type with the presence of 187R and DMSO respectively. *exsA* promoter activity of *vfr* mutant was served as control. (B) *vfr* promoter activity in wild type with the presence of 187R and DMSO, respectively. *vfr* promoter activity of *vfr* mutant was served as control.



Figure 2.5 *exsC* promoter activity and *amiE* '- '*lacZ* translational fusion expression (A) *exsC* promoter activity of the wild-type *P. aeruginosa* in the presence of DMSO or187R. (B) *exsC* promoter activity in wild type and *crc* mutant. (C) *amiE* '- '*lacZ* expression level in the presence of DMSO or 187R, *crc* mutant was served as control.

Expression ratio of *rsmY* and *rsmZ* in 187R/DMSO



Figure 2.6 Expression ratio of *rsmY* and *rsmZ* mRNA level with the presence of DMSO and 187R. *rpsL* was served as internal control. The fold change was log2 transformed (*, P<0.05).



Figure 2.7 Effect of 187R on *rsmY/Z/A* regulatory pathway. (A) expression of *tssA1* '-'*lacZ* translational fusion reporter with 187R and DMSO respectively. (B) *exoS* promoter activity in in the *rsmYZ* double mutant with the present of 187R and DMSO respectively. Statistical significance was determined using an two-tailed student's t-test (**, P<0.01; ***, P<0.001).



Figure 2.8 Expression ratio of *rhl1* in 187R/DMSO. The ratio waslog2 transformed.



Figure 2.9 Effect of 187R on c-di-GMP level. (A) *cdrA* promoter activity level with the presence of DMSO or 187R. *cdrA* promoter activity in ABTGC medium was used as a control. (B) Twitching and (C) swarming motility of wild-type strain in the presence of DMSO or 187R.

ExsA \longrightarrow 0.500RNAP \longrightarrow 0.250DMSO 187R 0.2500.000 - 0.000 -

A

Figure 2.10 Effect of 187R on master regulator *exsA*. A) ExsA protein levels with DMSO and 187R respectively. RNA polymerase (RNAP) was used as the loading control. B) qRT-PCR of *exsA*. Expression ratio of *exsA* in 187R/DMSO. The ratio was log2 transformed. *rpsL* was served as internal control.

B Expression ratio of *exsA* in 187R/DMSO



Figure 2.11 *deaD* regulates T3SS expression and low temperature growth. A) *exoS* promoter activity dramatically reduced in *deaD* mutant, adding 187R did not further reduced the *exoS* promoter activity. B) *deaD* did not affect the growth of PAO1 at 37°C. The low temperature (16 °C) growth of *deaD* mutant was measured in T3SS inducing medium (C) and LB (D) medium. *deaD* showed growth defect under the low temperature condition. Adding 187R does not affect the growth of PAO1 at 16 °C. Statistical significance was determined using an two-tailed student's t-test (***, P<0.001).



Figure 2.12 Translation of *exsA* with the presence of 187R or DMSO. (A) *exsA'-'lacZ* and *exsCEBA'-'lacZ* translational fusion reporter construction. (B) *exsA'-'lacZ* and (C) *exsCEBA'-'lacZ* expression with the presence of 187R or DMSO



Figure 2.13 187R inhibits T3SS in the presence of SNP (NO donor). *P. aeruginosa* was cultured under T3SS inducing condition. SNP was supplemented in the medium at the concentration of 3mM. Water was supplemented as control. Statistical significance was determined using an two-tailed student's t-test (**, P<0.01; ***, P<0.001).



Figure 2.14 Biofilm formation of wild type strain with the presence of 187R and DMSO in T3SS inducing medium (A) and ABTGC medium (B)

Strain/plasmid	Description	Reference or source
Pseudomonas aeruginosa		
PAO1	Wild-type strain	(109)
PAO1∆ <i>crc</i>	crc deletion mutant	(74)
PAO1∆ <i>deaD</i>	deaD deletion mutant	This study
РАК	Wild-type strain	(26)
$PAK\Delta pscJ$	The <i>pscJ</i> mutant	(26)
PAK∆vfr-Pvfr	vfr deletion mutant with vfr-lacZ	(35)
	transcriptional fusion integrated into	
	chromosome	
PAK-Pvfr	PAK wild type with vfr-lacZ	(35)
	transcriptional fusion integrated into	
	chromosome	
E. coli		
DH5a	Φ 80 <i>dlacZ</i> Δ M15 Δ (<i>lacZYA-argF</i>) U169	(110)
	recA1 hsdR17 deoR thi-1 supE44 gyrA96	
	relAl	
Plasmids		
pPROBE-AT	Cloning vector for transcriptional <i>gfn</i>	(83)
F	fusions: Cb ^r	()
exoS-gfp	pPROBE-AT containing the exoS	(59)
Cor	promoter; Cb ^r	
exoY-gfp	pPROBE-AT containing the <i>exoY</i>	This study
	promoter; Cb ^r	·
exoT-gfp	pPROBE-AT containing the <i>exoT</i>	This study
~~~	promoter; Cb ^r	·
exsC-gfp	pPROBE-AT containing the exsC	This study
~~	promoter; Cb ^r	-

Table 2.1 Bacteria strains and plasmids used in this study.

exsA-gfp	pPROBE-AT containing the exsA	This study
	promoter; Cb ^r	
pME6013	Cloning vector for translational <i>lacZ</i>	(111)
	fusions; Tc ^r	
pME9655	pME6013 with amiE'-'lacZ; Tcr	(74)
pSW205	lacZ translational fusion vector carrying	(84)
	the P. aeruginosa 1.8 kb stability	
	fragment; Cb ^r	
exsA '-' $lacZ$	pSW205 carry exsA transcriptional start	This study
	site to +52 codon of exsA, driven by	
	LacUV5 promoter	
exsCEBA '-' lacZ	pSW205 carry exsC transcriptional start	This study
	site to 52 codons of exsA, driven by	
	LacUV5 promoter	
tssA1 '-' lacZ	pSW205 carry +1 to +188 of tssA1,	This study
	driven by LacUV5 promoter	
pEX18GM	P. aeruginosa gene replacement vector;	(112)
	<i>sacB</i> , Gm ^r	
pEX18GM-deaD	pEX18GM carrying <i>deaD</i> deletion allele	This study

# Table 2.2 Oligonucleotide primers utilized in this study,

Primer	Sequence $(5' \rightarrow 3')$		
exoY-gfp			
PexoY-F	AT <u>GGATCC</u> GACGGTACGTACTTCGCGAC		
PexoY-R	AT <u>GAATTC</u> TGCATATCCGCAGGGCGCAG		
exoT-gfp			
PexoT-F	TA <u>GGATCC</u> CACCAAGAGCCCGTCGCTGC		
PexoT-R	AT <u>GAATTC</u> CCAGGCGCCCGGCCACGGC		
exsC-gfp			
PexsC-F	ATT <u>GTCGAC</u> GCAGAAGGTCGAGGACCAGATG		
PexsC-R	ATT <u>GAATTC</u> GATACGGCCTGCGAACTCGGC		
exsA-gfp			
PexsA-F	ATT <u>GTCGAC</u> TACATTGCCTGCTGTTTCGG		
PexsA-R	ATT <u>GAATTC</u> GGCCAAGAGATTTGGCTCC		
cdrA-gfp			
PcdrA-F	ATT <u>GTCGAC</u> GCAGTTGCAGCTCGTCGAA		
PcdrA-R	ATT <u>GAATTC</u> CGGACGGACCATGAAAATCT		
exsA '-' lacZ translational fusion			
Post exsA -F	AAA <u>GAATTC</u> AGGCTTTACACTTTATGCTTCCGGCTCGTAT AATGTGTGG CGTGCTCATGGCTTTGAAAATC		
Post exsA -R	AAA <u>GGATCC</u> CGCCAGGCAAAAAGTGGAAT		
tssA1 '-' lacZ translational fusion			
Post <i>tssA1</i> F	AAA <u>GAATTC</u> AGGCTTTACACTTTATGCTTCCGGCTCGTAT		

# underlines indicates restriction enzyme sites

AATGTGTGGAACCTTTCGAGTCATCCAATAT

# Post tssA1 R AAGGATCCGCGTCGTACTCCAGATCG

deaD deletion mutant

- *deaD* Upstream-F AAA <u>AAGCTT</u>CGAGACGATAGGCTTCGTGG
- *deaD* Upstream-R GGACCTCAGTCCTCGCGAGTCATGGGTTTGCCTCGTAT
- deaD downstream-F ATACGAGGCAAACCCATGACTCGCGAGGACTGAGGTCC
- deaD downstream-R AAAGGATCC ACGACTTCTACGGCTTTCCG

qRT-PCR primer

<i>rpsL</i> - F	TGAAGGTCACAACCTGCAAGAGCA

- rpsL R AACGACCCTGCTTACGGTCTTTGA
- exsA F CAAGGGAAAGGACAGCCGAA
- exsA R ACGCTCGACTTCACTCAACA
- rsmY-F TCAGGACATTGCGCAGGAA
- rsmY-R TTTGCAGACCTCTATCCTGACATC
- rsmZ-F GGAACACGCAACCCCGAAGG
- rsmZ-R CCGCCCACTCTTCAGTCCCT
- *rhlI*-F ATCCGCAAACCCGCTACATC
- *rhlI-*R TAGGCGAAGACGTCCTTGAG

# Table 2.3 Ciprofloxacin susceptibility of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 grow with DMSO or 187R

Condition	DMSO	187R
MIC ^a	1-2mg/L	1-2mg/L

^a MIC of ciprofloxacin was measured with DMSO or 187R (250  $\mu$ M) supplemented in the growth medium. MIC was determined by the minimal concentration of ciprofloxacin without growth.

# **Chapter 3 : Anti-virulence compound preserve the microbial community better than the traditional antibiotics**

# Abstract

Antibiotic therapies are known to disrupt the microbiota and have long-term negative influence on the hosts' health status. Anti-virulence compounds target the virulence factors but do not affect cell components that are essential for cell survival. Therefore, anti-virulence therapies are considered as alternative antimicrobial therapies that can better preserve the hostassociated microbial community. Although several studies evaluating the efficacy of antivirulence compounds on infectious diseases have been conducted, the impact of anti-virulence compounds on host microbial community has been seldom investigated. In this study, we used 16S Illumumia sequencing to test the impact of the anti-virulence compound, designated as 187R, on the composition of a P. aeruginosa hosts microbial community (Arabidopsis phyllosphere) in comparison to the treatment of streptomycin. Although the culture independent sequencing method is a powerful tool for studying the microbial community, it cannot assess the bioactivity and viability of the microbial community. To address this limitation, we also used the Biolog EcoPlate assay to compare the viability and metabolic function of the 187R-and streptomycin-treated microbial community. After examining the Illumina sequencing results and the carbon profile of 187R-, DMSO- and streptomycin-treated phyllosphere. We found that microbial community composition and metabolic function of the 187R-treated phyllosphere were more similar to the DMSO-treated phyllosphere (negative control) than the streptomycin-treated group. The results suggest that anti-virulence compounds can preserve the microbial community better than antibiotics.

# Introduction

Microorganisms inhabit almost every imaginable environment in the biosphere. These microbes play crucial roles in the ecosystems all around the world for cycling elements such as carbon, oxygen, nitrogen and metal (113). For example, the soil microbial community is

essential for decomposing the organic matters in forest soil, further influencing the carbon cycle and nutrient composition in the soil (114). In addition, in many ecosystems such as the tropical forest ecology system, the microbial community is considered as a key factor for maintaining the bio-diversity through negative feedback mechanisms (i.e., accumulation of pathogens inhibits the growth of plant seedlings) (115). The microbial communities in different areas, or symbiotic microbes in different hosts, feature their unique compositions and diversities (116). These microbial communities also have special functions affecting the hosts' health status. For example, the gut microbial community provides nutrients to the host, represses pathogens and parasites, and stimulates the development of the host's immune system (63, 64). Studies have suggested that phyllosphere microbial communities (i.e., microbial community on the leaf surface) limit the number of invasive pathogenic bacteria on the leaf surface via competition, as a result alleviating diseases (117).

Antibiotic therapy has been widely applied for treating the bacterial and fungal infections in human and animals since Alexander Fleming discovered penicillin in 1928. However, the current antibiotic therapy targets the cellular components which are essential for cell survival. The strong selective pressure leads to the development of antibiotic resistance and causes the accumulation of antibiotic resistant genes in the host gut microbiota. As a result, the host-associated microbiota becomes a potential pool of resistant genes and poses public health risk (118). Moreover, the cellular components serving as the targets of antibiotics, especially the broad-spectrum antibiotics, are conserved in many different bacteria species including both pathogenic microbes and disturbs the hosts' microbial communities (58, 119). The disruption of hosts' microbes sometimes causes severe diseases. For example, gut microbial disorder correlates with *Clostridium difficile* infection (68) and inflammatory bowel disease (69). The recovery of microbiota after treatment with antibiotics can take up to years (70),

which could potentially shorten the life span of the host (58, 120).

The anti-virulence therapies target the virulence factors instead of the essential components for cell survival. Therefore, it has been expected that the anti-virulence therapies can minimize the damage to the hosts' microbiota (72). However, few studies have been done to prove the theory. This study aimed to evaluate the anti-virulence compound impacts on host (i.e., *Arabidopsis* phyllosphere) from the perspective of the microbial community. Three treatments, including the virulence compound (i.e., 187R), control group (i.e., DMSO) and antibiotics (i.e., streptomycin) were applied to observe the corresponding impacts on phyllosphere microbes. Our results showed that 187R treatment group had more similar *Arabidopsis* phyllosphere to the control group compared with streptomycin, indicating less disturbance to host microbiota from this anti-virulence compound. This observation suggests such alternate antimicrobial therapy may be able to preserve non-pathogen host microbiota, causing less negative impacts on the host health condition compared to the widely-applied antibiotics.

Anti-virulence compound is considered as narrow-spectrum or even species-specific since the regulatory of virulence factors such as T3SS are very different in different pathogens. In our study, we also tested the spectrum of our anti-virulence compound 187R by testing the impact of 187R on a Hrp (Hypersensitive responses and pathogenicity) T3SS. Hrp T3SS is conserved among plant pathogens such as *D. dadantii*, *E. amylovora* and *Psedomonas syringae* (121). The Hrp T3SS in these three bacteria is activated by alternative sigma factor HrpL. In our experiment, we tested if the expression of *D. dadantii* and *E. amylovora hrpA* gene, which encodes a major component of T3SS pilus, altered by 187R (122, 123). We found that the *hrpA* expression has not changed in both *D. dadantii* and *E. amylovora*. These results showed that 187R is not a broad-spectrum anti-virulence compound.

# **Materials and Methods**

# **Phyllosphere collection**

For testing the effect of 187R on the phyllosphere, eight weeks *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-1 were moved from the pot to 2mL microcentrifuge tubes with the root immersed in water. The leaves were sprayed twice (8 hours between each spray) with 187R ( $35 \mu$ M), DMSO (negative control) or streptomycin (200 ppm), respectively. DMSO was also added into the streptomycin solution before spraying. The leaves were collected after the plants were kept at room temperature for overnight. The collected leaves were gently washed in PBS for cleaning the remaining compound and antibiotics. The washed leaves were placed in sterile tubes containing 30 mL PBS. The phyllosphere were collected by sonicating the test tubes in a water bath sonicator for 15 minutes. Samples were collected in triplicate for each treatment. A total of 22-24 plants were used in each treatment.

# 16S rRNA gene illumina sequencing and data analysis

PBS containing phyllosphere microbes collected from above were centrifuged and the cell pellets were used for microbial DNA extraction with the Qiagen Dneasy Powersoil kit (Qiagen, Germany) following manufacturer's instructions. The quantities of the genomic DNA were measured by Nanodrop spectrophotometer. Approximately 10ng of DNA were added into the PCR reaction as template. The V4 region of 16s rRNA gene was amplified using the 16S_515F and 16S_806R primers with Illumina sequencing adaptors (16S_515F: TCG TCG GCA GCG TCA GAT GTG TAT AAG AGA CAG GTG CCA GCM GCC GCG GTA A; 16S_806R: GTC TCG TGG GCT CGG AGA TGT GTA TAA GAG ACA GGG ACT ACH VGG GTW TCT AAT) (124). PCR amplification consisted of 95°C for 45 s, followed by 38 cycles of 95°C for 15 s, 78°C for 10 s, 60°C for 30 s, and 72°C for 30 s (125). PNA (peptide nucleic acid) clamps

mPNA and pPNA clamps (mPNA: GGC AAG TGT TCT TCG GA and pPNA: GGC TCA ACC CTG GAC AG) (126, 127), which binds to and blocks the amplification of mitochondria and chloroplast DNA, respectively, were added to the PCR reaction at a final concentration of 0.75  $\mu$ M. The PCR products was purified by QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit (QIAGEN).

Microbial community Illumina sequencing data was analyzed by Qiime version 1.9.1 (128). Open-reference OTU (Operational Taxonomy Unit) picking method using GreenGenes reference database version 13.8 (129) was performed for OTU clustering and taxonomy assignments. Principle coordinates analysis (PcoA) of microbial communities was performed based on the Unifrac distance matrix (130).

# Testing the impact of 187R on phyllosphere with culture dependent Biolog EcoPlate.

The different members of a microbial community have different growth requirements and utilize different carbon sources, therefore, the microbial community can decompose different organic carbon and involved in the nutrient cycling. Alternating the microbial community may change its carbon utilization. In this assay, the ability of the phyllosphere microbial communities treated by 187R, DMSO or streptomycin, utilizing the carbon sources were assessed by BioLog EcoPlate. Each EcoPlate has 96 wells containing 31 carbon sources and one blank control in three replicas. Tetrazolium violet redox dye was used to evaluate the substrate (carbon source) metabolization. For the EcoPlate assay, 2mL of PBS containing the suspended phyllosphere was diluted 1:20 (vol:vol) in sterile PBS. PBS contains diluted phyllosphere suspension was aliquoted into each well (120µL) of the Biolog EcoPlate. The carbon utilization was determined by Telcon plate reader using OD590nm after 48 hours incubation. The results were analyzed by Principle Component Analysis (PCA) using R (90) package FactoMineR (131). The heatmap with clustering analysis was generated based on

average OD590 value of each carbon source within each treatment using R package gplots (132).

### Testing the expression of T3SS in Erwinia amylovora and Dickeya dadantii

*Erwinia amylovora* 273 and *Dickeya dadantii* 3937 are plant pathogens processing T3SS. We tested the T3SS gene expression by measuring the T3SS regulon gene *hrpA* expression in these two strains. *E. amylovora* 273 and *D. didantii* 3937 carrying a phrpA reporter plasmid were used in this assay. The reporter plasmid phrpA for *E. amylovora* 273 was constructed by cloning *E. amylovora hrpA* promoter region into pPROBE-NT (123). The reporter plasmid phrpA for *D. dadantii* 3937 was constructed by cloning *D. dadantii* 3937 *hrpA* promoter region into pPROBE-NT (123). The reporter plasmid phrpA for *D. dadantii* 3937 was constructed by cloning *D. dadantii* 3937 *hrpA* promoter region into pPROBE-AT (133). The strains carrying phrpA reporter plasmid at 1:1000 were inoculated into Minimal Medium (133) with 250 μM of 187R. *E. amylovora* or *D. didantii* 3937 harboring the T3SS *hrpA -gfp* transcriptional fusion reporter treated with DMSO (solvent for screening compound) were used as negative control. Bacteria were cultured overnight at 28°C before harvesting. The harvested bacterial cells were 1:10 diluted in PBS and the GFP intensity was measured using fluorescence-activated cell sorter flow cytometry (FACS) (BD Biosciences, CA).

# Results

# Comparison of the impact of 187R and streptomycin on phyllosphere microbe compositions

There were a total of 19 phyla were observed for each treatment group, with *Proteobacteria* and *Bacteroidetes* as the two most abundant phyla. In the control group, *Proteobacteria* and *Bacteroidetes* composed on average 67% and 25% of the whole community, respectively. Phylum *Verrucomicrobia* and phylum *Firmicutes* each occupied about 1% of the whole

community (Fig. 3.1). Compare to the control group, the 187R-treated group, in which *Proteobacteria* and *Bacteroidetes* composed on average 62% and 30% of the whole community, showed similar relative abundances of different phyla (Fig. 3.1 & Fig. 3.2). Compared to the DMSO treated group, the antibiotic treated-group showed reduced relative abundance of *Proteobacteria* and increased relative abundance of *Bacteroidetes* and *Verrucomicrobia*. In particular, the average abundance of *Proteobacteria* reduced to 37%; *Bacteroidetes* and *Verrucomicrobia* increased to 51% and 6%, respectively (Fig. 3.1 & Fig. 3.2).

To further evaluate similarities of the microbial communities of different treatments, principle coordinates analysis (PcoA) was performed based on the Unifrac distance of different phyllosphere samples (Fig. 3.3). The antibiotic-treated phyllosphere was well separated from the 187R- and DMSO-treated phyllosphere along PC1, indicating antibiotic altered phyllosphere to a larger extent compared to 187R. Unifrac monte carlo significance test were conducted checking the phylogenetical differences between each pair of samples in our experiment. The test confirmed that all the streptomycin-treated phyllosphere are significantly different from the DMSO-treated phyllosphere (p < 0.05); however, no significant difference was observed when compared 187R-and DMSO-treated phylospheres. Overall, these results suggested that anti-virulence compound 187R preserved the microbial community composition better than the antibiotics.

#### 187R preserved the metabolic functions of the phyllosphere better than antibiotics.

The change of microbial metabolic function such as carbon metabolism may reflect the viability and metabolism of the microbial community. In order to test whether compositions of phyllosphere in 187R and antibiotics treatment groups can comprehensively represent the corresponding functional profiles, we used the EcoPlate assay to test the carbon metabolism (an important function related to microbe survival and nutrient cycling) of 187R-, DMSO- or

streptomycin-treated phyllosphere. The heatmap with clustering analysis was generated based on average OD590 of each carbon source within each treatment. The results demonstrated that 187R-and DMSO-treated phyllospheres shared similar pattern in terms of carbon metabolism profile (Fig. 3.4). However, the carbon metabolism profile of streptomycin-treated phyllosphere was different from the DMSO-and 187R-treated phyllospheres. Besides 2-Hydroxy Benzoic Acid and L-Threonine, which cannot be used by phyllosphere microbes as carbon sources, 13 out of 29 carbon sources showed more than two-fold reduction of OD590 (carbon metabolism) compared to those in the DMSO-treated phyllospheres. Moreover, the antibiotic-treated phyllospheres even lost the ability of using phenylethylamine as carbon source (indicated by arrow in Fig. 3.4). However, 187R-treated phyllosphere, has not shown such dramatic change in terms of carbon utilization (Fig. 3.4). The PCA analysis for carbon profiles of all 12 samples suggested that the carbon profiles of all three streptomycin-treated phyllospheres were greatly differed from the carbon profiles of DMSO-treated (control) phyllosphere. The samples were well separated along dimension 1 (Dim1), which explained 49.69% of the variation. Compared to carbon profiles of streptomycin-treated phyllosphere, the carbon profiles of three 187R-treated phyllospheres showed higher similarity to the carbon profiles of DMSO-treated (control) phyllospheres (Fig. 3.5). The results confirmed that there were drastic changes in antibiotic-treated phyllospheres but not in 187R-treated phyllospheres. Moreover, the results also suggested that compared to the antibiotic streptomycin, antivirulence compound 187R showed less impact on the microbial community carbon metabolism.

### 187R does not inhibits the T3SS of two other bacterial pathogens.

To test the specificity of 187R on other Gram negative bacteria possessing T3SS, we treated the *E. amylovora* and *D. dadantii* 3937 with 187R under T3SS inducing conditions. The expression of *hrpA* gene, which encodes the major subunit of the Hrp pilus, is under the regulation of sigma factor HrpL (123, 133). We found that the expression of *hrpA* was not affected by adding 187R (Fig. 3.6), indicating that the anti-virulence compound 187R may be specific to the T3SS of *P. aeruginosa*.

# Discussion

We found that by targeting the virulence factors of pathogens can reduce their ability to cause infections while preserving the host-associated microbiota. In this research, culture-independent and culture-dependent method were applied for testing the impact of an anti-virulence compound on *P. aeruginosa* host microbial community (*Arabidopsis* phyllosphere). Our results suggested that compared to antibiotics, 187R, and likely other anti-virulence compounds preserved the microbial community in terms of composition and function better than the traditional antibiotics. In addition, our anti-virulence compound did not affect the T3SS of *E. amylovora* and *D. dadantii* 3937, which indicates 187R-mediated T3SS inhibition is specific to *P. aeruginosa*.

In this experiment, we observed that the addition of PNAs greatly reduced the amplification of hosts' DNA including the mitochondria and chloroplast DNA (125). In our sequencing dataset, two sequences of chloroplast were found and no mitochondria sequences were observed, suggesting that supplementation of PNAs decreased the bias of microbial community analysis caused by host DNA amplification.

The EcoPlate assay highlighted the effect of anti-virulence compound on preserving the microbial community composition and metabolic functions, suggesting that the anti-virulence compound greatly reduced the damage of hosts' microbial community compared to the traditional antibiotics. A major limitation of the using culture-independent method examining the microbial community is that it cannot differentiate the viable and dead microbes in the ecosystem; therefore, the effects of treatments on the phyllosphere may be underestimated

(134). In addition, microbial communities are not only characterized by their species composition, they are also featured with different functional genes (for example, genes related to carbon and nitrogen metabolism) that are responsible for the microbes' bioactivities such as nutrient cycling and immunomodulation (135, 136). It has always been discussed that changing the microbial community composition would not necessarily result in the alternation of microbial community function due to its high functional redundancy (137, 138). Therefore, it is questionable that whether alternating the species composition would affect the hosts and ecosystems. Our culture-dependent EcoPlate method addressed these limitations of how antibiotics and anti-virulence compounds affect the viability and metabolic functions microbial communities showed that while 187R-treated samples showed similar carbon utilization profile to the DMSO control, the antibiotic-treated phyllosphere showed reduced capability of carbon utilization.

While checking the carbon metabolism profile of different phyllosphere, we observed that the carbon utilization profile was greatly altered in the microbial community treated with antibiotics. (Fig 3.4 & 5). Besides the altered composition of bacteria in the antibiotic-treated samples, the inhibitory mechanism of streptomycin may also contribute to the altered carbon metabolism. Streptomycin is a bacteriostatic agent. The research conducted in Gram negative bacteria *E. coli* showed that streptomycin interferes with protein synthesis by disturbing the stability of mRNA-ribosomal complex and inducing misreading of genetic code (139). As a result, although the bacteria may still survive in the community, the accumulation of mutated protein hampered their bioactivity and caused a decreased carbon metabolic rate. Further research for elucidating the impact of bacteriostatic agents, such as streptomycin, on the metabolic functions need to be done.
By testing the T3SS of *E. amylovora* and *D. dadantii* 3937, we found that 187R does not inhibit the *hrp* T3SS of these two bacteria, thus indicating that 187R may be a narrow-spectrum T3SS inhibitor specific for *P. aeruginosa*. The narrow-spectrum of 187R may also contributed to the preservation of the host microbial community since T3SS may also involve in shaping the bacterial habitat via interacting with the fungi and change its morphology (121).

In conclusion, using high-throughput sequencing and culture dependent EcoPlate assay, we studied the impact of anti-virulence compound on host microbial communities and the host-associated microbial community composition and metabolic function better than the traditional antibiotics. This discovery may allow us to target virulence factors of the pathogen while not altering the host microbiota. Our study indicates that anti-virulence compounds are good alternative strategy for new antimicrobial therapy development.



Figure 3.1 Average relative abundance of microbial communities at phylum level. Legend listed on the right side of the figure. 187R, phyllosphere treated by T3SS inhibitor 187R; DMSO, phyllosphere treated by DMSO; Streptomycin, phyllosphere treated by antibiotic streptomycin. Each pie graph demonstrates the mean abundance of three individual samples.



Figure 3.2 Relative abundance of microbial communities at phylum level. Legend listed on the right side of the figure. 187R, phyllosphere treated by T3SS inhibitor 187R; DMSO, phyllosphere treated by DMSO; Streptomycin, phyllosphere treated by antibiotic streptomycin.



Figure 3.3 Principal Coordinate Analysis (PcoA) of microbial communities based on weighted Unifrac distance. Legend listed on the right side of the figure. 187R, phyllosphere treated by T3SS inhibitor 187R; DMSO, phyllosphere treated by DMSO; Streptomycin, phyllosphere treated by antibiotic streptomycin.



Figure 3.4 Heatmap with cluster analysis of carbon metabolism profile. Color key indicates the OD590 value listed on the left side of the figure. Carbon source listed on the right side of the figure. 187R, phyllosphere treated by T3SS inhibitor 187R; DMSO, phyllosphere treated by DMSO; Streptomycin, phyllosphere treated by antibiotic streptomycin. Arrow indicated the phenylethylamine, the carbon source cannot be utilized by streptomycin treated phyllosphere.

### PCA analysis of EcoPlate



Figure 3.5 Principal Component Analysis (PCA) of microbial communities carbon metabolism profile. Legend listed on the inside of the figure. 187R, phyllosphere treated by T3SS inhibitor 187R; DMSO, phyllosphere treated by DMSO; Streptomycin, phyllosphere treated by antibiotic streptomycin. The percentage under the axis indicate the variation the axis explained.



Figure 3.6 *hrpA* promoter activity of *E. amylovora* (A) and *D. dadantii 3937* (B) in the presence of DMSO or 187R.

## References

- Frimmersdorf E, Horatzek S, Pelnikevich A, Wiehlmann L, Schomburg D. 2010. How *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* adapts to various environments: A metabolomic approach. Environ Microbiol 12:1734–1747.
- Eschbach M, Schreiber K, Trunk K, Buer J, Jahn D, Schobert M. 2004. Long-term anaerobic survival of the opportunistic pathogen *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* via pyruvate fermentation. J Bacteriol 186:4596–4604.
- 3. De Bentzmann S, Plésiat P. 2011. The *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* opportunistic pathogen and human infections. Environ Microbiol 13:1655–1665.
- 4. Bhagirath AY, Li Y, Somayajula D, Dadashi M, Badr S, Duan K. 2016. Cystic fibrosis lung environment and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection. BMC Pulm Med 1–22.
- Cole SJ, Records AR, Orr MW, Linden SB, Lee VT. 2014. Catheter-associated urinary tract infection by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* is mediated by exopolysaccharideindependent biofilms. Infect Immun 82:2048–2058.
- Chen M, Yu Q, Sun H. 2013. Novel strategies for the prevention and treatment of biofilm related infections. Int J Mol Sci 14:18488–18501.
- Rangel SM, Diaz MH, Knoten CA, Zhang A, Hauser AR. 2015. The Role of ExoS in Dissemination of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* during Pneumonia. PLoS Pathog 11:1–27.
- Gellatly SL, Hancock REW. 2013. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: New insights into pathogenesis and host defenses. Pathog Dis 67:159–173.
- Anyan ME, Amiri A, Harvey CW, Tierra G, Morales-Soto N, Driscoll CM, Alber MS, Shrout JD. 2014. Type IV pili interactions promote intercellular association and moderate swarming of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Proc Natl Acad Sci 111:18013– 18018.
- 10. Ahmed GF, Elkhatib WF, Noreddin AM. 2014. Inhibition of Pseudomonas aeruginosa

PAO1 adhesion to and invasion of A549 lung epithelial cells by natural extracts. J Infect Public Health 7:436–444.

- Depluverez S, Devos S, Devreese B. 2016. The Role of Bacterial Secretion Systems in the Virulence of Gram-Negative Airway Pathogens Associated with Cystic Fibrosis. Front Microbiol 7:1–8.
- Filloux A. 2011. Protein secretion systems in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: An essay on diversity, evolution, and function. Front Microbiol 2:1–21.
- Alexander J. Laarman, Bart W. Bardoel, Maartje Ruyken, Job Fernie, Fin J. Milder JAG van S and SH, J MR. 2012. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Alkaline Protease Blocks Complement Activation via the Classical and Lectin Pathways. J Immunol 188:386– 389.
- Kipnis E, Sawa T, Wiener-Kronish J. 2006. Targeting mechanisms of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa pathogenesis. Med Mal Infect 36:78–91.
- Durand É, Bernadac A, Ball G, Lazdunski A, Sturgis JN, Filloux A. 2003. Type II protein secretion in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: The pseudopilus is a multifibrillar and adhesive structure. J Bacteriol 185:2749–2758.
- Deng X, Li M, Pan X, Zheng R, Liu C, Chen F, Liu X, Cheng Z, Jin S, Wu W. 2017.
   Fis regulates type III secretion system by influencing the transcription of exsA in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strain PA14. Front Microbiol 8:1–16.
- Salacha R, Kovačić F, Brochier-Armanet C, Wilhelm S, Tommassen J, Filloux A,
  Voulhoux R, Bleves S. 2010. The *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* patatin-like protein PlpD is the archetype of a novel Type V secretion system. Environ Microbiol 12:1498–1512.
- Hachani A, Lossi NS, Hamilton A, Jones C, Bleves S, Albesa-Jové D, Filloux A.
   2011. Type VI secretion system in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: Secretion and

multimerization of VgrG proteins. J Biol Chem 286:12317–12327.

- Zhu M, Zhao J, Kang H, Kong W, Liang H. 2016. Modulation of type III secretion system in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: Involvement of the PA4857 gene product. Front Microbiol 7:1–13.
- 20. Sullivan AB, Connie Tam KP, Metruccio MME, Evans DJ, Fleiszig SMJ. 2015. The importance of the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* type III secretion system in epithelium traversal depends upon conditions of host susceptibility. Infect Immun 83:1629–1640.
- 21. François B, Luyt C-E, Dugard A, Wolff M, Diehl J-L, Jaber S, Forel J-M, Garot D, Kipnis E, Mebazaa A, Misset B, Andremont A, Ploy M-C, Jacobs A, Yarranton G, Pearce T, Fagon J-Y, Chastre J. 2012. Safety and pharmacokinetics of an anti-PcrV PEGylated monoclonal antibody fragment in mechanically ventilated patients colonized with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: a randomized,double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Crit Care Med 40:2320–6.
- Matz C, Moreno AM, Alhede M, Manefield M, Hauser AR, Givskov M, Kjelleberg S.
   2008. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* uses type III secretion system to kill biofilmassociated amoebae. ISME J 2:843–852.
- Hauser AR. 2009. The Type III Secretion System of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: Infection by Injection. Nat Rev Microbiol 7:654–665.
- 24. Galle M, Carpentier I, Beyaert R. 2012. Structure and function of the Type III secretion system of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Curr Protein Pept Sci 13:831–42.
- Finck-Barbançon V, Goranson J, Zhu L, Sawa T, Wiener-Kronish JP, Fleiszig SM, Wu C, Mende-Mueller L, Frank DW. 1997. ExoU expression by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* correlates with acute cytotoxicity and epithelial injury. Mol Microbiol 25:547–557.
- 26. Sun Y, Karmakar M, Taylor PR, Rietsch A, Pearlman E. 2012. ExoS and ExoT ADP

Ribosyltransferase Activities Mediate *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Keratitis by Promoting Neutrophil Apoptosis and Bacterial Survival. J Immunol 188:1884–1895.

- Belyy A, Raoux-Barbot D, Saveanu C, Namane A, Ogryzko V, Worpenberg L, David V, Henriot V, Fellous S, Merrifield C, Assayag E, Ladant D, Renault L, Mechold U.
   2016. Actin activates *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* ExoY nucleotidyl cyclase toxin and ExoY-like effector domains from MARTX toxins. Nat Commun 7:13582.
- Roy-Burman A, Savel RH, Racine S, Swanson BL, Revadigar NS, Fujimoto J, Sawa T, Frank DW, Wiener-Kronish JP. 2001. Type III protein secretion is associated with death in lower respiratory and systemic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infections. J Infect Dis 183:1767–1774.
- Vakulskas CA, Brady KM, Yahr TL. 2009. Mechanism of transcriptional activation by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* ExsA. J Bacteriol 191:6654–6664.
- Frank DW, Iglewski BH. 1991. Cloning and sequence analysis of a trans-regulatory locus required for exoenzyme S synthesis in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J Bacteriol 173:6460–6468.
- Hovey AK, Frank DW. 1995. Analyses of the DNA-binding and transcriptional activation properties of ExsA, the transcriptional activator of the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* exoenzyme S regulon. J Bacteriol 177:4427–4436.
- Yahr TL, Wolfgang MC. 2006. Transcriptional regulation of the *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa type III secretion system. Mol Microbiol 62:631–640.
- 33. Thibault J, Faudry E, Ebel C, Attree I, Elsen S. 2009. Anti-activator ExsD forms a 1:1 complex with ExsA to inhibit transcription of type III secretion operons. J Biol Chem 284:15762–15770.
- Rietsch A, Vallet-Gely I, Dove SL, Mekalanos JJ. 2005. ExsE, a secreted regulator of type III secretion genes in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Proc Natl Acad Sci 102:8006–

8011.

- 35. Fuchs EL, Brutinel ED, Jones AK, Fulcher NB, Urbanowski ML, Yahr TL, Wolfgang MC. 2010. The *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Vfr regulator controls global virulence factor expression through cyclic AMP-dependent and -independent mechanisms. J Bacteriol 192:3553–3564.
- Dong YH, Zhang XF, Zhang LH. 2013. The global regulator Crc plays a multifaceted role in modulation of type III secretion system in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Microbiologyopen 2:161–172.
- 37. Fuchs EL, Brutinel ED, Klem ER, Fehr AR, Yahr TL, Wolfgang MC. 2010. In vitro and in vivo characterization of the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* cyclic AMP (cAMP) phosphodiesterase CpdA, required for cAMP homeostasis and virulence factor regulation. J Bacteriol 192:2779–2790.
- 38. Marsden AE, Intile PJ, Schulmeyer KH, Simmons-Patterson ER, Urbanowski ML, Wolfgang MC, Yahr TL. 2016. Vfr directly activates *exsA* transcription to regulate expression of the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* type III secretion system. J Bacteriol 198:JB.00049-16.
- Brutinel ED, King JM, Marsden AE, Yahr TL. 2012. The distal ExsA-binding site in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* type III secretion system promoters is the primary determinant for promoter-specific properties. J Bacteriol 194:2564–2572.
- 40. Sonnleitner E, Bläsi U. 2014. Regulation of Hfq by the RNA CrcZ in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* carbon catabolite repression. PLoS Genet 10:1004440.
- Andrade MO, Farah CS, Wang N. 2014. The post-transcriptional regulator rsmA/csrA activates T3SS by stabilizing the 5' UTR of hrpG, the master regulator of hrp/hrc Genes, in *Xanthomonas*. PLoS Pathog 10:1003945.
- 42. Moscoso JA, Mikkelsen H, Heeb S, Williams P, Filloux A. 2011. The Pseudomonas

*aeruginosa* sensor RetS switches Type III and Type VI secretion via c-di-GMP signalling. Environ Microbiol 13:3128–3138.

- 43. Kong W, Chen L, Zhao J, Shen T, Surette MG, Shen L, Duan K. 2013. Hybrid sensor kinase PA1611 in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* regulates transitions between acute and chronic infection through direct interaction with RetS. Mol Microbiol 88:784–797.
- Moscoso JA, Jaeger T, Valentini M, Hui K, Jenal U, Filloux A. 2014. The diguanylate cyclase SadC is a central player in Gac/Rsm-mediated biofilm formation in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J Bacteriol 196:4081–4088.
- 45. Intile PJ, Diaz MR, Urbanowski ML, Wolfgang MC, Yahr TL. 2014. The AlgZR twocomponent system recalibrates the RsmAYZ posttranscriptional regulatory system to inhibit expression of the *pseudomonas aeruginosa* type III secretion system. J Bacteriol 196:357–366.
- Burrowes E, Baysse C, Adams C, O'Gara F. 2006. Influence of the regulatory protein RsmA on cellular functions in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1, as revealed by transcriptome analysis. Microbiology 152:405–418.
- 47. Chakravarty S, Melton CN, Bailin A, Yahr TL, Anderson GG. 2017. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* magnesium transporter MgtE inhibits type III secretion system gene expression by stimulating rsmYZ transcription. J Bacteriol 199:1–11.
- Intile PJ, Balzer GJ, Wolfgang MC, Yahr TL. 2015. The RNA helicase DeaD stimulates ExsA translation to promote expression of the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* type III secretion system. J Bacteriol 197:2664–2674.
- 49. Tan H, Zhang L, Zhao Q, Chen R, Liu C, Weng Y, Peng Q, Bai F, Cheng Z, Jin S, Wu
  W, Jin Y. 2016. DeaD contributes to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* virulence in a mouse acute pneumonia model. FEMS Microbiol Lett 363:1–10.
- 50. Owttrim GW. 2013. RNA helicases: Diverse roles in prokaryotic response to abiotic

stress. RNA Biol 10:96–110.

- Heurlier K, De V, Pessi G, Reimmann C, Haas D. 2003. Negative control of quorum sensing by RpoN (Sigma 54) in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1. J Bacteriol 185:2227–2235.
- 52. Wu W, Jin S. 2005. PtrB of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* suppresses the type III secretion system under the stress of DNA damage. J Bacteriol 187:6058–6068.
- 53. Linares JF, López JA, Camafeita E, Juan P, Rojo F, Martínez JL, Lo JA, Albar JP, Marti JL. 2005. Overexpression of the multidrug efflux pumps MexCD-OprJ and MexEF-OprN is associated with a reduction of Type III Secretion in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J Bacteriol 187:1384–1391.
- 54. Van Alst NE, Wellington M, Clark VL, Haidaris CG, Iglewski BH. 2009. Nitrite reductase NirS is required for type III secretion system expression and virulence in the human monocyte cell line THP-1 by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Infect Immun 77:4446–4454.
- 55. O'Callaghan J, Reen FJ, Adams C, O'Gara F. 2011. Low oxygen induces the type III secretion system in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* via modulation of the small RNAs rsmZ and rsmY. Microbiology 157:3417–3428.
- Ventola CL. 2015. The antibiotic resistance crisis: part 1: causes and threats. P T A peer-reviewed J Formul Manag 40:277–83.
- 57. Näpflin K, Schmid-Hempel P. 2018. High Gut Microbiota Diversity Provides Lower Resistance against Infection by an Intestinal Parasite in Bumblebees. Am Nat 000– 000.
- 58. Raymann K, Shaffer Z, Moran NA. 2017. Antibiotic exposure perturbs the gut microbiota and elevates mortality in honeybees. PLoS Biol 15:1–22.
- 59. Yamazaki A, Li J, Zeng Q, Khokhani D, Hutchins WC, Yost AC, Biddle E, Toone EJ,

Chen X, Yang CH. 2012. Derivatives of plant phenolic compound affect the type III secretion system of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* via a GacS-GacA two-component signal transduction system. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 56:36–43.

- Li B, Webster TJ. 2018. Bacteria Antibiotic Resistance: New Challenges and Opportunities for Implant-Associated Orthopaedic Infections 36:22–32.
- 61. Thorpe K, Joski P, Johnston J. 2018. Antibiotic-Resistant Infection Treatment Costs Have Doubled Since 2002, Now Exceeding \$2 Billion Annually. Health Aff 37:662– 669.
- Lambert PA. 2002. Mechanism of antibiotic resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J R Soc Med 95:S22-26.
- Wang B, Yao M, Lv L, Ling Z, Li L. 2017. The Human Microbiota in Health and Disease. Engineering 3:71–82.
- Engel P, Kwong WK, McFrederick Q, Anderson KE, Barribeau SM, Chandler JA, Cornman RS, Dainat J, De Miranda JR, Doublet V, Emery O, Evans JD, Farinelli L, Flenniken ML, Granberg F, Grasis JA, Gauthier L, Hayer J, Koch H, Kocher S, Martinson VG, Moran N, Munoz-Torres M, Newton I, Paxton RJ, Powell E, Sadd BM, Schmid-Hempel P, Schmid-Hempel R, Song SJ, Schwarz RS, van Engelsdorp D, Dainat B. 2016. The bee microbiome: Impact on bee health and model for evolution and ecology of host-microbe interactions. MBio 7:02164–15.
- 65. Smith P, Willemsen D, Popkes M, Metge F, Gandiwa E, Reichard M, Valenzano DR.
  2017. Regulation of life span by the gut microbiota in the short-lived african turquoise killifish. Elife 6:1–26.
- 66. Gimblet C, Meisel JS, Loesche MA, Cole SD, Horwinski J, Novais FO, Misic AM,
  Bradley CW, Beiting DP, Rankin SC, Carvalho LP, Carvalho EM, Scott P, Grice EA.
  2017. Cutaneous Leishmaniasis induces a transmissible dysbiotic skin microbiota that

promotes skin inflammation. Cell Host Microbe 190:5306–5312.

- 67. Van Rensburg JJ, Lin H, Gao X, Toh E, Fortney KR, Ellinger S, Zwickl B, Janowicz DM, Katz BP, Nelson DE, Dong Q, Spinolaa SM. 2015. The human skin microbiome associates with the outcome of and is influenced by bacterial infection. MBio 6:1–13.
- Bien J, Palagani V, Bozko P. 2013. The intestinal microbiota dysbiosis and *Clostridium difficile* infection: Is there a relationship with inflammatory bowel disease? Therap Adv Gastroenterol 6:53–68.
- 69. Rea MC, Sit CS, Clayton E, O'Connor PM, Whittal RM, Zheng J, Vederas JC, Ross RP, Hill C. 2010. Thuricin CD, a posttranslationally modified bacteriocin with a narrow spectrum of activity against *Clostridium difficile*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:9352–9357.
- 70. Francino MP. 2016. Antibiotics and the human gut microbiome: Dysbioses and accumulation of resistances. Front Microbiol 6:1–11.
- Howell HA, Logan LK, Hauser AR. 2013. Type III Secretion of ExoU Is Critical during Early *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Pneumonia 4:1–9.
- Totsika M. 2017. Disarming pathogens: benefits and challenges of antimicrobials that target bacterial virulence instead of growth and viability. Future Med Chem 9:267–269.
- 73. Yeung ATY, Bains M, Hancock REW. 2011. The sensor kinase CbrA is a global regulator that modulates metabolism, virulence, and antibiotic resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J Bacteriol 193:918–931.
- Sonnleitner E, Abdou L, Haas D. 2009. Small RNA as global regulator of carbon catabolite repression in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:21866–21871.
- 75. Abdou L, Chou HT, Haas D, Lu CD. 2011. Promoter recognition and activation by the

global response regulator CbrB in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J Bacteriol 193:2784–2792.

- 76. Nishijyo T, Haas D, Itoh Y. 2001. The CbrA-CbrB two-component regulatory system controls the utilization of multiple carbon and nitrogen sources in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Mol Microbiol 40:917–931.
- WHO Press. 2013. Global priority list of antibiotic-resistant bacteria to guide research, discovery, and development of new antibiotics. 1–7.
- 78. Marsden AE. 2015. Characterization of ExsA self-association and DNA-binding as therapeutic targets to prevent expression of the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* type III secretion system. ProQuest Diss Theses 191.
- 79. Berube BJ, Murphy KR, Torhan MC, Bowlin NO, Williams JD, Bowlin TL, Moir DT, Hauser AR. 2017. Impact of type III secretion effectors and of phenoxyacetamide inhibitors of type III secretion on abscess formation in a mouse model of *pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 61:1–15.
- 80. Lory S, Bedalov A, Giaever G, Roy PJ, Arnoldo A, Merrill RA, Stagljar I, Koscik B, Ljuma L, Chevelev I, Sahebol-Amri M, Lee VT, Nislow C, Kittanakom S, Curak J.
  2008. Identification of small molecule inhibitors of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Exoenzyme S using a Yeast Phenotypic Screen. PLoS Genet 4:e1000005.
- Lee VT, Pukatzki S, Sato H, Kikawada E, Kazimirova AA, Huang J, Li X, Arm JP, Frank DW, Lory S. 2007. Pseudolipasin A is a specific inhibitor for phospholipase A2 activity of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* cytotoxin ExoU. Infect Immun 75:1089–1098.
- 82. Hmelo LR, Borlee BR, Almblad H, Love ME, Randall TE, Tseng BS, Lin C, Irie Y, Storek KM, Yang JJ, Siehnel RJ, Howell PL, Singh PK, Tolker-nielsen T, Parsek MR, Schweizer HP, Harrison JJ. 2015. Precision-engineering the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* genome with two-step allelic exchange. Nat Protoc 10:1820–1841.

- Miller WG, Leveau JH, Lindow SE. 2000. Improved gfp and inaZ broad-host-range promoter-probe vectors. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 13:1243–1250.
- West SEH, Kaye SA, Hamood AN, Iglewski BH. 1994. Characterization of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* mutants that are deficient in exotoxin A synthesis and are altered in expression of *regA*, a positive regulator of exotoxin A. Infect Immun 62:897–903.
- 85. Pfaffl MW. 2002. Relative expression software tool (REST(C)) for group-wise comparison and statistical analysis of relative expression results in real-time PCR. Nucleic Acids Res 30:36e 36.
- Rashid MH, Kornberg A. 2000. Inorganic polyphosphate is needed for swimming, swarming, and twitching motilities of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Proc Natl Acad Sci 97:4885–4890.
- 87. Tan SYY, Liu Y, Chua SL, Vejborg RM, Jakobsen TH, Chew SC, Li Y, Nielsen TE, Tolker-Nielsen T, Yang L, Givskov M. 2014. Comparative systems biology analysis to study the mode of action of the isothiocyanate compound iberin on *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 58:6648–6659.
- Wiegand I, Hilpert K, Hancock REW. 2008. Agar and broth dilution methods to determine the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of antimicrobial substances. Nat Protoc 3:163–75.
- 89. Miller J. 1972. Experiments in Molecular GeneticsCold Spring Harbor protocols.
- R Core Development Team. 2018. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.
- 91. Cowell BA, Twining SS, Hobden JA, Kwong MSF, Fleiszig SMJ. 2003. Mutation of lasA and lasB reduces *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* invasion of epithelial cells. Microbiology 149:2291–2299.

- 92. Yang H, Shan Z, Kim J, Wu W, Lian W, Zeng L, Xing L, Jin S. 2007. Regulatory role of PopN and its interacting partners in type III secretion of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J Bacteriol 189:2599–2609.
- 93. Guo Q, Wei Y, Xia B, Jin Y, Liu C, Pan X, Shi J, Zhu F, Li J, Qian L, Liu X, Cheng Z, Jin S, Lin J, Wu W. 2016. Identification of a small molecule that simultaneously suppresses virulence and antibiotic resistance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Sci Rep 6:1–15.
- 94. Jin Y, Yang H, Qiao M, Jin S. 2011. Mext regulates the type III secretion system through mexs and ptrc in *pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J Bacteriol 193:399–410.
- 95. Planamente S, Salih O, Manoli E, Albesa-Jové D, Freemont PS, Filloux A. 2016. TssA forms a gp6-like ring attached to the type VI secretion sheath. EMBO J 35:1613–1627.
- Allsopp LP, Wood TE, Howard SA, Maggiorelli F, Nolan LM, Wettstadt S, Filloux A.
   2017. RsmA and AmrZ orchestrate the assembly of all three type VI secretion systems in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Proc Natl Acad Sci 114:7707–7712.
- 97. Zhou X, Teper D, Andrade MO, Zhang T, Chen S, Song W-Y, Wang N. 2018. A phosphorylation switch on Lon protease regulates bacterial Type III Secretion System in host. MBio 9:1–17.
- 98. Breidenstein EBM, Janot L, Strehmel J, Fernandez L, Taylor PK, Kukavica-Ibrulj I, Gellatly SL, Levesque RC, Overhage J, Hancock REW. 2012. The Lon protease is essential for full virulence in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. PLoS One 7:0049123.
- 99. Fernandez L, Breidenstein EBM, Taylor PK, Bains M, De La Fuente-Nunez C, Fang Y, Foster LJ, Hancock REW. 2016. Interconnection of post-transcriptional regulation: The RNA-binding protein Hfq is a novel target of the Lon protease in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Sci Rep 6:1–11.
- 100. Elisabeth Sonnleitner MS, Sorger-Domenigg T, Greenberg EP, Bläsi and U. 2006.

83

Hfq-dependent alterations of the transcriptome profile and effects on quorum sensing in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Mol Microbiol 59:1542–1558.

- 101. Takaya A, Tabuchi F, Tsuchiya H, Isogai E, Yamamoto T. 2008. Negative regulation of quorum-sensing systems in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* by ATP-dependent Lon protease. J Bacteriol 190:4181–4188.
- 102. Brazas MD, Breidenstein EBM, Overhage J, Hancock REW. 2007. Role of Lon, an ATP-dependent protease homolog, in resistance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* to ciprofloxacin. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 51:4276–4283.
- 103. Valentini M, Laventie BJ, Moscoso J, Jenal U, Filloux A. 2016. The diguanylate cyclase HsbD Intersects with the HptB regulatory cascade to control *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilm and motility. PLoS Genet 12:1–30.
- 104. Rybtke MT, Borlee BR, Murakami K, Irie Y, Hentzer M, Nielsen TE, Givskov M, Parsek MR, Tolker-Nielsen T. 2012. Fluorescence-based reporter for gauging cyclic Di-GMP levels in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Appl Environ Microbiol 78:5060–5069.
- 105. Sorger-Domenigg T, Sonnleitner E, Kaberdin VR, Bläsi U. 2007. Distinct and overlapping binding sites of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Hfq and RsmA proteins on the non-coding RNA RsmY. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 352:769–773.
- Phillips PL, Schultz GS. 2012. Molecular mechanisms of biofilm infection: Biofilm virulence factors. Adv Wound Care 1:109–114.
- 107. Vital-Lopez FG, Reifman J, Wallqvist A. 2015. Biofilm formation mechanisms of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* predicted via Genome-Scale kinetic models of bacterial metabolism. PLoS Comput Biol 11:1–24.
- 108. Mulcahy H, O'Callaghan J, O'Grady EP, Maciá MD, Borrell N, Gómez C, Casey PG, Hill C, Adams C, Gahan CGM, Oliver A, O'Gara F. 2008. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* RsmA plays an important role during murine infection by influencing colonization,

84

virulence, persistence, and pulmonary inflammation. Infect Immun 76:632-638.

- 109. Holloway BW. 1969. Genetics of Pseudomonas. Bacteriol Rev 33:419-43.
- Bryant FR. 1988. Construction of a recombinase-deficient mutant recA protein that retains single-stranded DNA-dependent ATPase activity. J Biol Chem 263:8716–8723.
- 111. Keel C, Duffy B, Gigot-Bonnefoy C, Reimmann C, Maurhofer M, Defago G, Haas D, Schnider-Keel U, Blumer C, Seematter A, Notz R. 2002. Autoinduction of 2,4-Diacetylphloroglucinol biosynthesis in the biocontrol agent *Pseudomonas fluorescens* CHA0 and repression by the bacterial metabolites Salicylate and Pyoluteorin. J Bacteriol 182:1215–1225.
- 112. TT. H, RR. K-S, AJ. K, HP. S. 1998. A broad-host-range Flp-FRT recombination system for site-specific excision of chromosomally-located DNA sequences: application for isolation of unmarked *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* mutants. Gene.
- 113. Jizhong Zhou, Zhili He, Yunfeng Yang, Ye Deng, Susannah G. Tringe LA-C. 2015. High-Throughput metagenomic technologies for complex microbial community analysis: Open and closed formats. CEUR Workshop Proc 1542:33–36.
- 114. López-Mondéjar R, Zühlke D, Becher D, Riedel K, Baldrian P. 2016. Cellulose and hemicellulose decomposition by forest soil bacteria proceeds by the action of structurally variable enzymatic systems. Sci Rep 6:1–12.
- 115. Mangan SA, Schnitzer SA, Herre EA, MacK KML, Valencia MC, Sanchez EI, Bever JD. 2010. Negative plant-soil feedback predicts tree-species relative abundance in a tropical forest. Nature 466:752–755.
- 116. Santhanam R, Luu VT, Weinhold A, Goldberg J, Oh Y, Baldwin IT. 2015. Native root-associated bacteria rescue a plant from a sudden-wilt disease that emerged during continuous cropping. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112:E5013-20.
- 117. Remus-Emsermann MNP, Schlechter RO. 2018. Phyllosphere microbiology: at the

interface between microbial individuals and the plant host. New Phytol 218:1327–1333.

- 118. Tian B, Fadhil NH, Powell JE, Kwong WK, Moran NA. 2012. Long-term exposure to antibiotics has caused accumulation of resistance determinants in the gut microbiota of honeybees. MBio 3:00377–12.
- 119. Rea MC, Dobson A, O'Sullivan O, Crispie F, Fouhy F, Cotter PD, Shanahan F, Kiely B, Hill C, Ross RP. 2011. Effect of broad- and narrow-spectrum antimicrobials on Clostridium difficile and microbial diversity in a model of the distal colon. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108 Suppl:4639–44.
- 120. Li JH, Evans JD, Li WF, Zhao YZ, DeGrandi-Hoffman G, Huang SK, Li ZG, Hamilton M, Chen YP. 2017. New evidence showing that the destruction of gut bacteria by antibiotic treatment could increase the honey bee's vulnerability to nosema infection. PLoS One 12:1–18.
- 121. Nazir R, Mazurier S, Yang P, Lemanceau P, van Elsas JD. 2017. The ecological role of type three secretion systems in the interaction of bacteria with fungi in soil and related habitats is diverse and context-dependent. Front Microbiol 8:1–14.
- 122. Yi X, Yamazaki A, Biddle E, Zeng Q, Yang CH. 2010. Genetic analysis of two phosphodiesterases reveals cyclic diguanylate regulation of virulence factors in Dickeya dadantii. Mol Microbiol 77:787–800.
- 123. Khokhani D, Zhang C, Li Y, Wang Q, Zeng Q, Yamazaki A, Hutchins W, Zhou S-S, Chen X, Yang C-H. 2013. Discovery of plant phenolic compounds that act as Type III Secretion System inhibitors or inducers of the fire blight pathogen, *Erwinia amylovora*. Appl Environ Microbiol 79:5424–5436.
- 124. Yang B, Wang Y, Qian P-Y. 2016. Sensitivity and correlation of hypervariable regions in 16S rRNA genes in phylogenetic analysis. BMC Bioinformatics 17:135.

- Steven B, Huntley RB, Zeng Q. 2018. The influence of flower anatomy and apple cultivar on the apple flower phytobiome. Phytobiomes J 2:171–179.
- 126. Wagner MR, Lundberg DS, Coleman-Derr D, Tringe SG, Dangl JL, Mitchell-Olds T.
  2014. Natural soil microbes alter flowering phenology and the intensity of selection on flowering time in a wild Arabidopsis relative. Ecol Lett 17:717–726.
- 127. Sakai M, Ikenaga M. 2013. Application of peptide nucleic acid (PNA)-PCR clamping technique to investigate the community structures of rhizobacteria associated with plant roots. J Microbiol Methods 92:281–288.
- 128. Caporaso JG, Kuczynski J, Stombaugh J, Bittinger K, Bushman FD, Costello EK, Fierer N, Peña AG, Goodrich JK, Gordon JI, Huttley G a, Kelley ST, Knights D, Koenig JE, Ley RE, Lozupone C a, Mcdonald D, Muegge BD, Pirrung M, Reeder J, Sevinsky JR, Turnbaugh PJ, Walters W a, Widmann J, Yatsunenko T, Zaneveld J, Knight R. 2010. correspondence QIIME allows analysis of high- throughput community sequencing data Intensity normalization improves color calling in SOLiD sequencing. Nat Publ Gr 7:335–336.
- 129. Larsen N, Brodie EL, Andersen GL, Huber T, DeSantis TZ, Keller K, Dalevi D, Hugenholtz P, Rojas M, Hu P. 2006. Greengenes, a chimera-checked 16S rRNA gene database and workbench compatible with ARB. Appl Environ Microbiol 72:5069– 5072.
- 130. Lozupone C, Lladser ME, Knights D, Stombaugh J, Knight R. 2011. UniFrac: An effective distance metric for microbial community comparison. ISME J 5:169–172.
- Lê S, Pagès J, Husson F. 2008. FactoMineR : An R package for multivariate analysis. J Stat Softw.
- Gregory R. Warnes, Ben Bolker, Lodewijk Bonebakker, Robert Gentleman, Wolfgang Huber Andy Liaw, Thomas Lumley M, Maechler, Arni Magnusson, Steffen Moeller,

87

Marc Schwartz BV. 2019. Various R Programming Tools for Plotting Data.

- 133. Yuan X, Khokhani D, Wu X, Yang F, Biener G, Koestler BJ, Raicu V, He C, Waters CM, Sundin GW, Tian F, Yang CH. 2015. Cross-talk between a regulatory small RNA, cyclic-di-GMP signalling and flagellar regulator FlhDC for virulence and bacterial behaviours. Environ Microbiol 17:4745–4763.
- 134. C. Zapka, J. Leff, J. Henley, J. Tittl, E. De Nardo, M. Butler RG, N. Fierer SE-W.
  2017. Comparison of standard culture-based method to culture-independent method for evaluation of hygiene effects on the hand microbiome. MBio 8:1–17.
- Michelou VK, Caporaso JG, Knight R, Palumbi SR. 2013. The ecology of microbial communities associated with Macrocystis pyrifera. PLoS One 8:1–9.
- 136. Paula FS, Rodrigues JLM, Zhou J, Wu L, Mueller RC, Mirza BS, Bohannan BJM, N??sslein K, Deng Y, Tiedje JM, Pellizari VH. 2014. Land use change alters functional gene diversity, composition and abundance in Amazon forest soil microbial communities. Mol Ecol 23:2988–2999.
- 137. Tully BJ, Wheat CG, Glazer BT, Huber JA. 2018. A dynamic microbial community with high functional redundancy inhabits the cold, oxic subseafloor aquifer. ISME J 12:1–16.
- De Vrieze J, Christiaens MER, Walraedt D, Devooght A, Ijaz UZ, Boon N. 2017. Microbial community redundancy in anaerobic digestion drives process recovery after salinity exposure. Water Res 111:109–117.
- Hasan Demirci, Frank Murphy IV, Eileen Murphy, Steven T. Gregory, Albert E.
   Dahlberg and GJ. 2013. A structural basis for streptomycin-induced misreading of the genetic code. Nat Commun 234–235.

## Curriculum Vitae

### **EDUCATION**

University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

#### Ph.D in Biological Sciences August, 2019

Dissertation: Mechanism of 187R inhibits *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Type III Secretion System

Dissertation Advisor: Dr. Ching-Hong Yang, Ph.D

Northeastern University

M.S. in Regulatory Affairs for drugs, biologics and medical devices May, 2013

Zhejiang Chinese Medical University

B.S. in biotechnology June, 2009

#### AWARDS

Chancellor's Graduate Student Fellowship

2013-2018

#### **Teaching Experience**

TEACHING EXPERIENCE: University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

#### Teaching Assistant—Anatomy and Physiology I 2013-2015

Assisted with overall class structure, including weekly lab practicum, and administered all grading for assigned laboratory sections.

#### Teaching Assistant - General survey of microbiology2016-2018

Responsible for instructing students on experimental techniques and research method development. Assisted in the assessment of student performance, and grading of laboratory work.

# 90

## **Teaching Assistant - Experimental Microbiology**

Designed special projects assigned by the course professor. Implementation of enhanced techniques for improving student experimental outcomes.

## **Teaching Assistant – General microbiology**

Responsible for instructing students on experimental techniques and research method development. Assisted in the assessment of student performance, and grading of laboratory work.

#### **Teaching Assistant-Laboratory Techniques in Molecular biology** 2018

Assisted with student experiments and lab preparation.

## **Teaching Assistant- Elements of biology**

Responsible for instructing students on experimental techniques and research method development. Assisted in the assessment of student performance, and grading of laboratory work.

## ACADEMIC RESEARCH EXPERIENCE

- Discovery of novel compounds inhibit the virulence factor of *Pseudomonas* • aeruginosa (T3SS). Found a potent T3SS inhibitor 187R and elucidated the inhibitory mechanism of the compound. Determined inhibitory mechanism of the 187R on P. aeruginosa T3SS.
- Analysis the anti-virulence compounds' impact on the microbial community using culture dependent and independent methods. Using illumina sequencing method and bioinformatics tools illustrated that anti-virulence compound cause less impact on host-associated microbial community compared to traditional antibiotics.
- Investigating the role of soil biota in negative-feedback mechanism which • maintaining the biodiversity in the tropical rainforest using the culture independent sequencing method and bioinformatic tools.
- Established the animal skin infection model.
- Studied the production of camptothecine (anti-cancer compound) from Nothapodytes nimmoniana tissue culture with HPLC analysis

## **Publication**

Fan, S., Fang, T., Fang, L., Yang, CH., He., Y.Transcriptional responses of Xanthomonas oryzaepv. oryzae to type III secretion system inhibitor ortho-coumaric acid in BMC Microbiology, No.163, July 2019

Fang, L. Study on Rapid Propagation and Effective Anticancer Constituents of *Nothapodytes* nimmoniana In JOUR. OF ZHEJIANG FOR. SCI. & TECH, pp. 27-29, Vol.28. No.6, Nov. 2008.

2017

2019